

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-29-2024

Social Workers' Education in Identifying Victims of Human **Trafficking**

Simmone Lafette Jones Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Simmone Jones

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Diane Rullo, Committee Chairperson, Social Work Faculty

Dr. Lindy Lewis, Committee Member, Social Work Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Social Workers' Education in Identifying Victims of Human Trafficking

by

Simmone L. Jones

MSW, Clark Atlanta University, 2016

BSW, The University of Southern Mississippi, 2013

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

February 2024

Abstract

More than 27 million people are victims of human trafficking worldwide according to the U.S. Department of State. This qualitative study was conducted to understand the education and training social workers receive to identify victims of human trafficking. The research questions examined participants' education and training on the identification of human trafficking victims, what education and training is offered within their employment, and what education and training in identifying human trafficking victims is needed for future practices. Notes from 10 individual interviews were coded using in vivo coding with results indicating that there was little to no education and training provided to social workers in the identification of human trafficking victims. Moreover, the results indicated that there is a need for more education and training on identifying human trafficking victims adequately for social workers. This research is significant for positive social change for researchers, educators, social workers, and other social service providers who service the human trafficking population.

Social Workers' Education in Identifying Victims of Human Trafficking

by

Simmone L. Jones

MSW, Clark Atlanta University, 2016

BSW, The University of Southern Mississippi, 2013

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

February 2024

Dedication

To the late George F. Dupree and D'Orlyly "Cookie" Freeman—grandfather and grandmother. Thank you for pushing me to educate myself to the highest level possible. I know you are both proud of me. I love you with everything I have.

Continue to watch over me and rest in peace.

Acknowledgments

Thank you so much, Dr. Diane Rullo, as you have been my number one cheerleader in obtaining this Doctorate. You are an inspiration and the greatest gift to Walden University. You did not allow me to give up, and I thank you so much for your support. I hope you are proud. I would also like to thank Dr. Deborah Rice and Dr. Lindy Lewis for your support. You both have been a significant influence in helping me earn this degree. I cannot thank you all enough, and I wish you well in your careers.

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iii
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	3
	Research Questions	3
	Definitions	4
	Nature of Doctoral Project	5
	Significance of the Study	5
	Theoretical/Conceptual Framework	6
	Values and Ethics	7
	Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
	Human Trafficking	9
	Gaps in Education	10
	Tools Used for Human Trafficking Identification	11
	Federal Initiatives and Legislation by State	15
	Continuing Education and Training	26
	Developed Undergraduate and Graduate Courses on Human Trafficking	27
	Summary	33
Se	ction 2: Research Design and Data Collection	34
	Research Design	34
	Methodology	36
	Participants	37
	Instrumentation	37

Data Analysis		
Ethical Procedures		
Summary39		
Section 3: Presentation of the Findings		
Data Analysis Techniques		
Findings		
Demographics44		
Interview Questions: Data Results45		
Themes55		
Unexpected Findings		
Summary56		
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change		
Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice59		
Recommendations for Social Work Practice60		
Implications for Social Change61		
Summary62		
References64		
Appendix: Interview Questions88		
Annendix R. Interview Schedule		

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant Demographics	
Table 2. Employment Provided Training by Topic and Evaluation Practices55	

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Human trafficking impacts vulnerable and oppressed men, women, and children of all ages (Anderson, 2018; Cox, 2018; Ernewein & Neives, 2015). Human trafficking is the act of recruitment and harboring, through threats, abduction, coercion, and abuse of a person for exploitation (Rockinson-Szapkiw et al., 2017). Research from a study completed in 2016 found that over 313,000 people globally experienced problems related to human trafficking, of which 79,000 were minors and youth (Mostajabian et al., 2019). Adolescents and young adults are more vulnerable to human trafficking, particularly sex trafficking (Mostajabian et al., 2019). Seventy-five percent of these youth come from foster care placements and the juvenile justice system with their backgrounds including being homeless and/or on runaway status (Mostajabian et al., 2019). These types of situations put them at substantial risk of human sex trafficking (Mostajabian et al., 2019).

Human trafficking is one of the fastest-growing global crimes (Nsonwu, 2019), although most cases go unreported. The lack of proper reporting has resulted in human trafficking becoming the second or third most profitable global business (Marcus et al., 2016; Nsonwu, 2019). Human trafficking is among the most critical problems facing society. With profits exceeding \$55 billion or \$21,000 per victim (Cox, 2018), it is the fastest-growing illegal and hidden industry in the world (Ernewein & Nieves, 2015).

The responsibility of identifying human trafficking victims falls on professionals who are involved in various fields such as law enforcement, medical (doctors, nurses, social workers), and education (Gonzalez-Pons, 2019). These various professionals engage with trafficked victims often, when they may not be prepared to

properly identify them (Gonzalez-Pons, 2019). With human trafficking being one of the biggest industries in the world, professional social workers could play a significant role in identifying and referring services to human trafficking victims (Cox, 2018; Nsonwu, 2019). Social workers are on the front lines to identify victims (Cox, 2018; Ernewein & Nieves, 2015; Nsonwu, 2019; Roney & Villano, 2020). Social workers need to recognize human trafficking victims as they provide mental health, substance use treatment, housing, and AIDS/HIV treatment that may be necessary (Bromfield, 2016; Nsonwu, 2019).

Problem Statement

Human trafficking occurs in each of the 159 counties in Georgia (McDonald, 2022). A trend observed by the Georgia Anti-Trafficking Task Force includes an increase in reported cases since the Covid-19 pandemic started (McDonald, 2022). Another trend the Georgia Anti-Trafficking Task Force has identified is that social workers throughout the state do not have the proper education or training to adequately identify a human trafficking victim (McDonald, 2022). Other researchers have also noted that human service providers in Georgia are ill-equipped to identify victims of human trafficking (Nsonwu, 2019; Roney & Villano, 2020; Willaims et al., 2018). There is inconsistency in the identification tools used by social service providers, causing missed opportunities for identification, prevention, and victim service efforts (Williams et al., 2018). Additionally, identifying human trafficking victims and subsequent service delivery is hindered due to the lack of documented education related to human trafficking (Gonzalez-Pons, 2019). There are sporadic education and training programs available in Georgia for social workers in identifying human trafficking victims, and there is little sign that they will receive education and

training anytime soon (Williams et al., 2018). Culturally relevant training and education are essential to identifying and serving this vulnerable population (Nsonwu, 2019).

Purpose Statement

This qualitative study was conducted to identify social workers education and training on how to identify human trafficking victims properly. Currently, there are little to no research studies that address the level of preparedness of social workers to identify human trafficking survivors. Social workers play a vital role in advocating for the vulnerable populations in society (Cox, 2018; Nsonwu, 2019). But their ability to adequately identify victims of human trafficking has remained limited (Gonzalez-Pons, 2019; Nsonwu et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2018). Though human trafficking victims present in emergency rooms and social services facilities, they are not being identified by health care or social work professionals (Nsonwu, 2019; Roney & Villano, 2020). The foster care system is another component that employs social workers who lack the necessary skills to identify victims of human trafficking (Nsonwu, 2017). Because professionals play an increasingly vital role in identifying victims and providing coordinated and collaborative care (Cox, 2018; Ernewein & Nieves, 2015; Nsonwu, 2019; Roney & Villano, 2020), relevant training and education is needed to serve victims of human trafficking properly (Nsonwu, 2019).

Research Questions

- RQ 1:What are social workers experiences with formal education received in the identification of human trafficking victims?
- RQ 2: What training experiences do social workers receive in the identification of human trafficking victims?

Definitions

The following definitions and key terms are provided for clarification and context.

Education: A formal process of inquiry and systematic instruction in a school or university setting (Oxford Languages Dictionary, 2021).

Forced labor: A form of modern-day slavery forcing victims to work in construction, manufacturing, mining, hospitality, agriculture, or as domestic workers (Human Rights First, 2017).

Human trafficking: A form of modern slavery in which includes sexual exploitation, forced labor, and domestic servitude (Parrish, 2018).

Labor trafficking: The recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision, or obtaining of a person for labor or services, using force, fraud, or coercion for involuntary servitude, peonage, debt bondage, or slavery (Administration for Children & Families – Office on Trafficking in Persons, 2017).

Services: A sum of activities that authorities make available for individuals, businesses, or other public authorities in which is intended to address their needs (Guarino, 2017).

Sex trafficking: The recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision, obtaining, patronizing, or soliciting of a person for the purpose of a commercial sexual act, in which the commercial sexual act is induced by force, fraud, or coercion, or in which the person induced to perform such act has not attained 18 years of age (Administration for Children & Families – Office on Trafficking in Persons, 2017).

Sexual exploitation: A form of sexual abuse of a person that he or she does not comprehend, is unable to give informed consent to, that violates the laws of society.

The victim also receives something in return, such as drugs, food, money, gifts, alcohol, cigarettes, *etc.* (Kyegombe et al., 2020).

Social work: Work carried out by trained, formally educated, and licensed professionals (social workers) aimed at alleviating conditions in individuals, communities, or groups in need of help, with special attention to the most vulnerable in society (Oxford Languages Dictionary, 2021; NASW, 2018).

Training: A learning experience, or series of experiences, specific to an area of inquiry and related set of skills or dispositions that are delivered by the professional who has the knowledge and skill (Meadan et al., 2017).

Transnational: A process where victims of human trafficking are recruited abroad and transported to other countries where they are exploited for labor and/or sex (Human Rights First, 2017).

Nature of Doctoral Project

I used qualitative research to determine social workers' education and training in identifying human trafficking victims. I completed one-on-one interviews with social workers conducting human trafficking assessments in child protective services due to many human trafficking victims being found and placed into foster care. I electronically mailed the directors from child protective services and the social services departments to recruit social workers. Finally, I asked for permission to send an electronic mail invitation to 8 social workers in their respective venues.

Significance of the Study

Human trafficking is a widespread problem that continues to grow each year (Cox, 2018; Marcus et al., 2016; Nsonwu, 2019; Scannell & Conso, 2020). Obtaining credible numbers on the severity of the problem is challenging due to the lack of

accurate identification and reporting from key providers such as social workers, medical professionals, and law enforcement personnel (Scannell & Conso, 2020). Education on how to identify victims of human trafficking needs to improve (Nsonwu, 2019). Knowledge is crucial for direct service professionals to fully understand the complexities of identifying human trafficking victims, especially in efforts to prevent victims from withholding that they are involved in a trafficking situation (Scannel & Conso, 2020).

This research identifies the level of education and training of social workers delivering social services to identify human trafficking victims. The study also determined gaps in education and training to evaluate if it is necessary to provide more education and training to adequately recognize human trafficking victims. The outcome could give social service agencies, law enforcement, and policymakers useful information to develop enhanced education and training initiatives. This study also builds on the body of literature available for scholars within the social work field to explore the development of programs and education and training initiatives to identify human trafficking victims. Improving social workers' training in early recognition of victims may help improve identification practices and mitigate the adverse effects on this vulnerable population.

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

General systems theory (Von Bertalanffy, 1964) was used as the theoretical framework to guide this study. Systems theory in social work provides an interdisciplinary approach to study complex systems to assist in identifying, defining, and addressing social problems (Lalande & Baumeister, 2018). General systems theory explains human behavior in terms of reciprocal relationships within that

system (Masilo, 2018). The framework is used to look at complex systems and how parts relate to each other and the whole system (Banson et al., 2018). Social workers utilize systems theory to understand the interactions between individuals, families, institutions, and societies (Banson et al., 2018). Social workers play an essential role in providing services to human trafficking victims, so there is an increased need to educate social workers to identify human trafficking victims. Providing effective services to victims of human trafficking becomes challenging due to gaps in training and the educational system for social workers (Steiner et al., 2018). But through general systems theory, social workers gain a level of understanding of the physical, social, and environmental systems of the victims (Banson et al., 2018; Meshelemiah & Lynch, 2019).

Values and Ethics

The National Association of Social Workers (NASW, 2021) Code of Ethics, outlines ethical practices of the social work profession. The values and principles related to this clinical social work problem is competence. Although several codes are available, this study is grounded in need to improve social work services and representation as competent only within their education, training, license, certification, or other relevant professional experience (NASW, 2021). The second competence code states that social workers should provide services in substantive areas or use intervention techniques or approaches that are new to them only after engaging in appropriate training, consultation, and supervision from competent people in those interventions or strategies (NASW, 2021). To effectively identify and assess a human trafficking victim, social workers must be fully informed of the work when it comes to the human trafficking population (Lucio et al., 2020). The challenge with

this core value is that to do so, social workers require specific training and education, which is very rare (Lucio et al., 2020).

The third competence code states that when generally recognized standards do not exist concerning an emerging area of practice, social workers should exercise careful judgment and take responsible steps to ensure their work's competence and protect clients from harm (NASW, 2021). The challenge with this core value is that social workers may be providing services to victims. However, their agency may have poorly designed trafficking education and training programs or policies (Knight et al., 2021). These challenges also include possibly not identifying victims correctly or providing adequate after-care (Knight et al., 2021).

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

I used a variety of professional and peer-reviewed databases through Walden University Library and Google Scholar to search for and locate the common themes related to social workers and the identification of human trafficking victims. The search was completed for published submissions from 2016 through 2021. I used the following key terms when searching the databases: adult services, coercion, debt bondage, education, exploitation, forced labor, gaming, grooming, human trafficking, involuntary domestic servitude, involuntary servitude, luring, manipulation, services, sexual exploitation, smuggling, social work, social workers, trafficking, and training. The key word search provided useful information to determine the common themes related to this problem. Peer-reviewed journals were obtained from the following sources: EBSCO host, SAGE Journals, SAGE Knowledge, Social Work Abstracts, ProQuest Psychological Journals, and various human trafficking and social work websites related to the need for adequate identification for human trafficking victims.

Human Trafficking

Human trafficking is the recruitment and involuntary servitude of a person (Camp et al., 2018; CLF, 2020; Dierkhising et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2018; U.S. Department of Justice). Human trafficking is a global concern that impacts the most vulnerable in society (United Nations [UN], 2020). International/national human trafficking is a crime orchestrated individually or within an organized group that impacts thousands of vulnerable men, women, and children (Child Liberation Foundation [CLF], 2020; Du, 2017; Williams, 2018). Many victims are from unemployed or poor backgrounds and are single and homeless (Camp et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2018). Millions of men, women, and children are trafficked worldwide annually (U.S. Department of Homeland Security [USDHS], 2021). Approximately 1.5 million victims originate from North America, Europe, and other developed nations (CLF, 2020; Williams, 2018).

Due to the covert nature of trafficking activities, obtaining definitive statistical data on this problem is challenging (Kim et al., 2018; UN, 2020; USDHS, 2021). Estimated data are collected from missing person reports, reports of trafficking in the areas where the individuals go missing, and additional authority reports of trafficking occurring (Kim et al., 2018). At this time, although it is difficult to estimate, it has been reported that there may be more than 20.9 million victims of human trafficking globally (Du, 2017; Klimley et al., 2018; UN, 2020; USDHS, 2021).

Human trafficking is considered the third-largest global criminal activity (Federal Bureau of Investigation [FBI], 2017) and the second most lucrative transnational crime, profiting billions of dollars annually (CLF, 2020; Cox, 2018; Du, 2017; Human Rights First, 2017; Klimley et al., 2018). Since human trafficking

encompasses several illegal activities, criminal syndicates involved in human trafficking earn approximately \$99 billion annually from sexual trafficking and slavery; \$43 billion from forced labor; and \$8 billion from forced domestic servitude (Kiss & Zimmerman, 2019).

Gaps in Education

Health care and social service agencies are settings where many young people seek help and engage in services (Lutz, 2018; Nsonwu, 2019; Roney & Villano, 2020). An estimated 88% of human trafficking victims seek medical attention during captivity (Wallace et al., 2021). But many go unnoticed because healthcare professionals are ill-equipped to adequately identify them (Duquesne University, School of Nursing, 2020; Mahapatra et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2018), and victims often fail to disclose their situation in a clinical environment (National Human Trafficking Research Center, 2021). The lack of proper identification techniques makes it challenging for professionals to recognize victims of human trafficking (Mahapatra et al., 2019; National Institute of Justice, 2020; Wallace et al., 2021).

Insufficient knowledge, training, and experience in identifying and aiding victims is a common problem related to the lack of recognition of a human trafficking victim (Mahapatra et al., 2019; Okech et al., 2018; Wallace et al., 2021). Social workers and other health professionals do not understand the various forms of activity related to trafficking due to insufficient coursework in the primary educational content (Mahapatra et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018; Okech et al., 2018). Further, a lack of research exists in identifying what human trafficking is, making it difficult to provide social workers with the appropriate knowledge while attending undergraduate and graduate-level programs (Mahapatra et al., 2019; Wallace et al., 2019).

Researching human trafficking is challenging due to the covert nature of the crime and the difficultly of obtaining methodological and ethical approval (Mahapatra et al., 2019). The lack of research results in insufficient literature grounded in evidence-based practices to support curricula content and the subsequent identification of victims following graduation (Mahapatra et al., 2019; Wallace et al., 2021). There is a need for additional research to improve the identification of human trafficking victims by social workers and implement appropriate interventions (Kiss & Zimmerman, 2019). Education modules must be updated and improved to identify victims of human trafficking correctly (Okech et al., 2018). Completing research and analysis will aid social workers in the identification of human trafficking victims from an individual level and a larger group context to understand the forces driving the problem and mitigate its harmful effects (Kiss & Zimmerman, 2019). While some screening tools exist, there is a need to develop evidence-based clinical guidelines on correctly identifying victims of human trafficking is needed (Martinho et al., 2020; Wallace et al., 2021).

Tools Used for Human Trafficking Identification

Agencies worldwide are finding it challenging to address human trafficking through proper identification, screening, intervention, and treatment due to the lack of appropriate measurements and tools (Chisolm-Straker et al., 2019; McDonald & Middleton, 2019; Pate et al., 2021). One such tool is the Vera Institute Trafficking Victim Identification Tool (TVIT), which is a validated tool that screens adults for human trafficking for 60 minutes and requires a human trafficking expert for interpretation (Chisolm-Straker et al., 2019). Another tool used for identification of a HT victim is the Human Trafficking Interview and Assessment Measurement

(HTIAM), which takes 45 minutes to screen an adult and also requires a human trafficking expert to administer (Chisolm-Straker et al., 2019). The TVIT and HTIAM are both cumbersome and are not pragmatic for agency use because they are lengthy and not easy to administer (not user-friendly; Chisolm-Straker et al., 2019). Statistical performance indicators also revealed low outcomes of identifying victims of human trafficking using both measures, resulting in missed opportunities for intervention (Chisolm-Straker et al., 2018).

Researchers have developed additional screening tools to standardize how professionals identify victims during a client's encounter (Davy, 2016). Greenbaum et al. (2018) created an electronic short screening tool to identify victims of human trafficking in a healthcare (emergency room) setting. Medical professionals are equipped with a tablet to confidentially administer the 6-question assessment to minors suspected of sex trafficking. Practitioners can use it assess various characteristics of victims such as appearance, demeanor (nervous/cooperative), and medical history to access health system information to determine previous treatments (Pate et al., 2021). Results of using this simplified and confidentially administered electronic screening tool suggest this modality is helpful in accurately identifying trafficking victims (Pate et al., 2021).

Similarly, Salisbury et al. (2018) developed a trauma-informed identification tool to analyze risk indicators of youth suspected of being victims of human trafficking. The instrument assesses risk using three tiers (client interview, consent, and assessment). Tier 1 provides a means to conduct an initial interview of at-risk youth to determine the likelihood of involvement in sex trafficking (Pate et al., 2021). Tier 2 requires assent to conduct a second, more invasive confidential consultation of

suspected client involvement. Tier 3, the most detailed, includes administering a behavior-specific interview, allowing practitioners to get a complete and thorough assessment of the various types of victimization experienced. The three-tiered screening process has provided a results-oriented intervention to identify and divert victims to community advocates.

There are also various tools used to identify sexual trafficking and adult services in online platforms and digital environments (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021; L'Hoiry et al., 2021). The development of information and communication technologies (ICT) over the past decade has created new human trafficking and profiteering opportunities, presenting a challenge to law enforcement and social service professionals seeking to identify victims (L'Hoiry et al., 2021). The Traffic Jam and Spotlight (TJS) and the Sexual Trafficking Identification Matrix (STIM), are used by law enforcement to facilitate investigations on adult services websites (ASW; Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021). The Traffic Jam and Spotlight is the most prominent tool used by police to analyze content and determine false profiles among legitimate advertisements (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021). TJS also helps law enforcement identify online trafficking scenarios through facial recognition software and data scraping advantages or the quick online retrieval of data from various websites (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021). The Sexual Trafficking Identification Matrix aims to assist law enforcement with identifying risk indicators on adult services websites and flag high-interest profiles for investigation (L'Hoiry et al., 2021). The matrix used with other risk assessments can measure the probability of trafficking scenarios of adult services websites. The matrix has been proficient in identifying high-risk profiles related to trafficking versus legitimate postings by independent sex workers.

Marinus Analytics reported that the TJS device assisted law enforcement with identifying 3,800 human trafficking victims in 2019 (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021). The tool has helped identify 15,000 trafficked victims since 2016 and saved over 60% in investigation time for law enforcement (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021).

Despite the growth in law enforcements' use of technical tools to identify victims of human trafficking, there remains a lack of research to establish the reliability and accuracy of such tools (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021). Limited research is available related to the examination of adult services websites and the identification of profiles of suspected traffickers (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021). The studies are speculative due to only identifying potential or suspected instances of trafficking (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021). Likewise, online tools such as STIM include limitations related to the identification of false positives (L'Hoiry & Moretti, 2020). The scale of opportunities adult services websites creates for traffickers outweigh the capacity for law enforcement to investigate nefarious activities, not due to the lack of resources, but due to the relationships between victims and their traffickers, creating additional challenges to identifying victims (Moretti & Antonopoulos, 2021).

To fight human trafficking networks, the U.S. government reformed public policies and implemented the National Action Plan to Combat Human Trafficking (NAPCHT) as a mechanism to identify victims through the U.S. National Human Trafficking Hotline (Anthony, 2018; NAPCHT, 2020). The hotline is used as a tool to identify human trafficking victims and focuses on retrieving critical information, support, and providing safety (Anthony, 2018; NAPCHT, 2020; Polaris, 2019). Operated by the Polaris Team, paramount to the program's goals is developing a

safety plan (Anthony, 2018; Polaris, 2019). The team adapts their phrasing and scope of questions to callers uniquely to help identify if the person is experiencing a trafficking situation (Anthony, 2018; Polaris, 2019). Services are accomplished via phone calls, text messaging, and chat signals (Anthony, 2018; Polaris, 2019). According to government data (NAPCHT, 2020), federal law enforcement agencies initiated over 1,600 new investigations into trafficking situations, and an additional 2,500 new cases were opened at the state and local levels from information gained from the hotline. Although this is a tool, in part, to help identify victims of human trafficking, the number of victims identified from this specific tool could be higher if the staff used a systematic, standardized set of questions (Anthony, 2018).

While multiple identification tools exist, many systems and service providers are not aware of, or agencies have not implemented the use of these tools (NAPCHT, 2020; Pate et al., 2021). Government and external stakeholders (social service professionals, medical personnel, educators, law enforcement officers, and government officials) face key challenges related to insufficient understanding and access to scientifically rigorous data analysis and program evaluation to inform better which strategies are most effective (NAPCHT, 2020). There needs to be more informed policies and practices around identification tools to effectively screen human trafficking victims within social work agencies and medical facilities (Pate et al., 2021; Wallace et al., 2021). It is essential to provide appropriate education to individuals administering identification tools on the prevalence of the problem (Pate et al., 2021).

Federal Initiatives and Legislation by State

Government officials have immersed states with programs and resources

designed to help and promote awareness of human trafficking and anti-trafficking campaigns (Carmichael, 2021). Available Federal resources provide local and state governments with the necessary tools to fight this social injustice (Carmichael, 2021). Carmichael argues (2021) that these initiatives, especially education, aid social workers and government officials with the necessary elements to combat human trafficking. The U.S. Department of Justice (USDJ, 2021) aids states by educating leaders on strengthening collaborative responses to mitigate human trafficking using the Human Trafficking Task Force e-Guide. The model uses a comprehensive, multidisciplinary task force approach that encompasses various agencies (medical, law enforcement, education, and hospitality) working together to respond to human trafficking (USDJ, 2021). As of 2016, only 13 states have legislatively addressed education related to human trafficking for multidisciplinary agencies (Atkinson et al., 2016). To tackle the problem associated with continuing education following formal schooling, Texas, Michigan, and New Jersey, have made human trafficking training for health professionals, including social workers, mandatory (Health & Human Services – Texas, 2021; New Jersey Hospital Association, 2018; Whiteford, 2021).

California has the highest rates of human trafficking cases reported, followed by Texas and Florida (CA OAG, 2021; Salas & Didier, 2021). The California Department of Justice reported 1656 cases in the state in 2018, with 1226 related to sex trafficking, 151 forced labors, 110 involving combined forced labor and sex trafficking, and 169 not specified (CA OAG, 2021). Los Angeles, San Diego, and San Francisco have high human trafficking occurrences, especially near schools (Salas & Didier, 2021). Due to increased levels of sex trafficking and irregular migration at border crossings, California schools are vulnerable to human trafficking when they

should be safe for children to learn and develop into healthy adults (Salas & Didier, 2021). In response to the staggering statistics, California has developed a whole-of-government approach to human trafficking to address stakeholder concerns (educators, social workers, state officials, law enforcement; Salas & Didier, 2021).

In 2013, California enacted Senate Bill 1193, which added to California Civil Code 52.6, designating businesses and various establishments to post a public human trafficking model notice created by the California Attorney General's Office (CA OAG, 2021). The notice includes information on support services for human trafficking victims and identification strategies for employees and customers (CA OAG, 2021). The post must be placed in full public view and not in an inconspicuous place (CA OAG, 2021). In 2017, legislators enacted two additional measures, Senate Bill 225, and Assembly Bill 260, to combat human trafficking (CA OAG, 2021). Senate Bill 225 required the model notice to include a phone number for victims to text for help, and Assembly Bill 260 required motels and hotels to be added to the business list required to display the model notice (CA OAG, 2021).

In 2017, California became the first of fifty states to mandate human trafficking prevention education for grades 7th through 12th (Salas & Didier, 2020). Educators, social workers, administrators, and various school staff were mandated to receive the same training (Salas & Didier, 2020). The legislation, known as the Human Trafficking Prevention Education and Training Act (HTPETA), was signed into law on October 7, 2017, by Governor Edmund G. Brown Jr. (Salas & Didier, 2020). HTPETA is the Legislatures' response to the documented vulnerability of California and its children to Human Trafficking (Salas & Didier, 2020). Like the Trafficking Victims Protection Act (TVPA), HTPETA initiates a multi-disciplinary

approach to reducing human trafficking vulnerability and begin its destruction from the state (Salas & Didier, 2020). It directs state, school, and county officials to join forces and create protection and prevention measures for vulnerable children, as well as formulates assessment tools to evaluate the effectiveness of implemented measures (Salas & Didier, 2020).

According to information obtained from the Texas Human Trafficking Task Force (2020), Texas continually ranks second in the nation for the number of human trafficking cases. Foos-Pierce and Grona-Robb (2021) report that over an elevenmonth timeframe in 2020, over 1.5 billion online commercial ads related to entice human trafficking were distributed, with approximately 300,000 suspected to be associated with targeting minors. The Texas Office of the Attorney General (TX OAG, 2020) acknowledges human trafficking as a major problem for the state that requires an equally strong solution to combat the problem. While some legislation has been introduced, the Attorney General argues that Texas is overdue to initiate updated policies designed to address the problem (TX OAG, 2020). The Texas Office of the Attorney General also reports that Texas must implement practices and collaborative efforts to develop updated responses to human trafficking, including new education laws and training for healthcare workers (TX OAG, 2020).

In response to addressing human trafficking, legislators created the Texas Human Trafficking Prevention Task Force (in line with the Department of Justice's - Human Trafficking Task Force e-Guide) to increase collaborative efforts across the state, bringing local, state, non-governmental partners, and federal agencies together to end human trafficking (Foos-Pierce & Grona-Robb, 2021; TX OAG, 2020; USDJ, 2021). The task force's number one goal is to become equipped to recover and care

for victims of trafficking and to prosecute traffickers who exploit victims (TX OAG, 2020). Additional goals include strengthening the tasks force's role and structure, fostering a vision of cooperation through workshops and training, and building alliances with other human trafficking tasks forces and coalitions to help combat trafficking worldwide (TX OAG, 2020).

Texas has initiated additional legislative reforms (Texas Senate Bill [SB] 72) to eradicate human trafficking effectively and efficiently through the coordination of programs, services, and state resources for all state agencies receiving appropriations (Foos-Pierce & Grona-Robb, 2021; TX OAG, 2020). SB 72 created the statewide Human Trafficking Coordinating Council, which directed officials to develop a strategic plan ensuring state resources are used effectively through cross-agency coordination (Foos-Pierce & Grona-Robb, 2021; TX OAG, 2020). Additionally, Texas implemented Freedom in the 806: Coalition Against Trafficking, allowing intensive oversight and organization within law enforcement and social service agencies to increase community awareness for the prevention/identification of human trafficking victims, increase investigations and prosecutions of suspected traffickers, and provide coordinated/ comprehensive trauma-informed services to victims (Freedominthe 806.org, 2021). Freedom in the 806: Coalition Against Trafficking has received state funding since its inception in 2015 and continues to expand efforts, increasing attention to human trafficking and providing additional education to social service professionals and community leaders throughout the state (Freedominthe 806.org, 2021; OAG, 2020).

Michigan has been at the forefront of states implementing laws and practices addressing issues related to human trafficking (Whiteford, 2021). The Michigan

Banning Law was created in 2006 to eradicate human trafficking in the state (Whiteford, 2021). The legislature passed changes in 2010 and 2011 to strengthen the law and created the Human Trafficking Commission Act with the Michigan Attorney General's Office and a Human Trafficking Health Advisory Board within the Department of Community Health (Whiteford, 2021). The law aimed to provide law enforcement and healthcare officials with additional education and skills to recognize and effectively treat human trafficking victims (Whiteford, 2021).

Although Michigan has fought human trafficking for over a decade, in 2019, 364 human trafficking cases were reported, placing it 8th among states in the US for the highest number of occurrences (Resetar, 2021). These statistical rankings shocked communities, forcing leaders to strategize ways to address human trafficking that would provide significant changes (Resetar, 2021). Leaders formulated laws to help, not only identify victims of human trafficking, but also provide education to government officials (Resetar, 2021). Michigan legislators approved further legislation in 2021 that developed mandatory training standards on human trafficking for social service agencies, educators, counselors, law enforcement, and medical providers (Jarvi, 2021). Legislators included the new training requirements in the Human Trafficking Commission Act, which requires the Commission to create minimum training standards for professionals serving human trafficking victims (Jarvi, 2021).

Like Texas and Michigan, New Jersey has a comprehensive anti-trafficking strategy involving many sectors to include social service professionals, law enforcement officers, and government officials at all levels (Bruck, 2021). The legislature created the New Jersey Commission on Human Trafficking in 2013 to

educate, prevent, treat, and protect victims of human trafficking (Bruck, 2021). The commission consists of fifteen member agencies which includes law enforcement officers, victim assistance services, health care, child advocacy, social service agencies, and one survivor of human trafficking (Bruck, 2021). Commissioners are selected by the state Governor or receive recommendations from leading legislature members to serve an appointment (Bruck, 2021). The Governor of New Jersey recommended that the appointed commission work to create a multitude of trainings to help educate health care workers, social service professionals, law enforcement agencies, and government officials on human trafficking within the state (New Jersey Department of Education [NJDE], 2019). Training consists of material designed to strengthen communities by identifying and understanding what constitutes human trafficking and is provided by the New Jersey Commission on Human Trafficking's National Training Justice Center (NJDE, 2019).

Florida ranks third in the nation for reported cases of human trafficking with the third- highest number of calls to the National Human Trafficking Hotline (Singleton, 2020). South Florida is considered a gateway for human trafficking due to the area's proximity to international airports and Port Everglades (Singleton, 2020). South Florida is a mecca for human trafficking due to its high homeless population and 49% immigration rate (Coonan, 2003; Singleton, 2020). Such risk factors allow trafficking perpetrators, in the U.S. and abroad, to take advantage of victims in these types of environments (Florida Legislature, 2021; Singleton, 2020). Forced labor and the sexual exploitation of children are among the problems encountered due to the area's largely agricultural economy and location to major sporting and music events (Coonan, 2003; Florida Legislature, 2021). Large crowds related to professional

sports and entertainment create a venue for lucrative financial transactions for the sexual entertainment industry (adult entertainment clubs, escort services, and prostitution) and child sex traffickers (Coonan, 2003; Florida Department of Children and Families, 2020; Florida Legislature, 2021; Singleton, 2020). Although forced labor and sexual exploitation are related to the highest number of trafficking cases, domestic servitude, restaurant work, janitorial services, and sweatshop factory labor are also part of the equation (Florida Legislature, 2021).

Combating efforts of trafficking in Florida are led by the Department of Children and Families (DCF), Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ), and the Office of the Attorney General (Florida Office of the Attorney General [FL OAG], 2021). Most human trafficking work in Florida centers on survivors who classify as minors (Singleton, 2020). DCF and DJJ work together to address cases by utilizing data combining agreements that allow them to cross-reference information called into the Florida Abuse Hotline on human trafficking cases with delinquency information (Singleton, 2020). DCF and DJJ are also at the forefront of trafficking identification, using a screening tool developed in 2015, Florida's Human Trafficking Screening Tool (Singleton, 2020).

Florida had a record of nonexistent or inadequate training for social workers, law enforcement officers, and social service agencies which perpetuated continued trafficking and failed to prevent new cases (Singleton, 2020). The Florida Office of the Attorney General formulated the Statewide Council on Human Trafficking, focusing on care options for victims (FL OAG, 2021). Care initiatives include developing comprehensive programs and services to certify safe houses/foster homes through DCF, strengthening the apprehension/prosecution of traffickers, and

enhancing coordination of responses (FL OAG, 2021). Participating in an annual statewide policy summit with institutions of higher learning was recognized as a method of building on state and local partnerships, which is a good start toward broadening education and training for social workers, law enforcement officers, social service agencies, etc. (FL OAG, 2021).

Florida legislators filed Senate Bill CS/SB 154: Human Trafficking Education in Schools in 2020 to revise health education in public schools to include instruction on the dangers and signs of human trafficking, which 'died in messages' (The Florida Senate, 2020). Instead, Florida has enacted mandating human trafficking awareness training to lodging establishments (hotel industry) employees only versus law enforcement officers, medical professionals, educators, and social service agencies etc. (Stanton, 2020). This service delivery model poses challenges to its effectiveness to mitigate human trafficking cases and extend training to all professionals involved (Powell et al., 2017). Most mandatory training is limited to new hotel industry hires and is not required on an annual or reoccurring basis, adding to sporadic education following employment (Powell et al., 2017; Stanton, 2020).

The lack of appropriate training for law enforcement officers, social workers, and social services agencies in Florida serving vulnerable populations experiencing human trafficking creates substantial concerns (Singleton, 2020). Singleton (2020) reports that victims undergo redundant interviews due to a lack of state training and education within agencies. As a result, retelling their stories can contribute to their trauma (Singleton, 2020). The author states that Florida agencies must strengthen their skills to develop a public health trafficking approach that avoids repetitively interviewing victims seeking services (Singleton, 2020). Additionally, the most

structured trainers must have a depth of human trafficking knowledge and adapt to individualized needs to mitigate further traumatization (Singleton, 2020).

Georgia continues to be among the states experiencing significant issues related to human trafficking, especially in the capital region of Atlanta (U.S. Department of State [USDA], 2021). Atlanta has been a hub for human trafficking for many years due to its proximity to an international airport and major interstate connections (Georgia – National Human Trafficking Hotline.org, 2021).

Approximately 65% of men soliciting young females for sex in Georgia do so in and around suburban and metro Atlanta, with 9% near the airport (Georgia – National Human Trafficking Hotline.org, 2021). In addition, approximately 374 girls between the ages of 12 - 14 are commercially exploited monthly by about 12,400 men paying for sex using Craigslist to lure victims (Georgia – National Human Trafficking Hotline.org, 2021).

Georgia has implemented a variety of laws and initiatives to combat human trafficking, and representatives are eager to comply with Federal programs promoting awareness and anti-trafficking agendas (Carmichael, 2021). House Bill (HB) 200, passed in 2011, provided human trafficking training for social workers, law enforcement, educators, and government officials (Carmichael, 2021). Carmichael (2021) argues that HB 200 was an essential step in the fight against trafficking in the state through training initiatives. Correctly identifying victims at the local and state levels is imperative to afford them with the necessary protections and therapeutic interventions (Carmichael, 2021). The law broadened the definition of coercion to recognize and encompass additional ways victims are forced into exploitation (Carmichael, 2021). The bill extended compensation for victims of human trafficking

experiencing serious mental and emotional trauma and increased punishment for the sexual exploitation of victims under age 16 (Carmichael, 2021).

In 2015, Georgia legislators created the Human Trafficking Task Force consisting of Federal, state, and local agencies to further address trafficking concerns (U.S. Attorney Office [USAO], 2021). The goal of the Task Force is to collaborate with law enforcement, health care providers/staff, and social service agencies to identify human trafficking, correctly identify victims, and prosecute offenders using training initiatives (USAO, 2021). The Task Force provides statewide coordination, communication, and collaboration to respond to human trafficking and has elevated the concern as an utmost priority of the Governor's office (Criminal Justice Coordinating Council [CJCC], 2021). As a result of this prioritization, CJCC carries the dedicated response to trafficking by addressing the need for unified strategies, including training professionals to combat this problem (CJCC, 2021). The CJCC financially and programmatically supports innovative programs and services throughout Georgia to help empower victims (CJCC, 2021).

Georgia continues to take legislative action to combat human trafficking and implement education and awareness platforms (Carmichael, 2021). In 2020, Senate Bill (SB) 435, The Survivors First Act, was passed and signed into law requiring human resource education for all state employees (Carmichael, 2021). SB 435 provides materials for private industry to use for teaching and partnering with authorities when human trafficking is suspected (Carmichael, 2021). Additionally, SB 435 created remedies for sex and labor trafficking survivors to clean up Georgia criminal records, vacating convictions, and restricting access to arrest records related to trafficking offenses (Georgia - Office of the Attorney General [GA OAG], 2020).

Such actions remove barriers to employment, housing, and other opportunities allowing survivors to heal from their traumatic experiences and begin anew (GA OAG, 2020). Initiatives implemented by the Georgia legislature have been lauded by advocates such as Shared Hope International on the excellent strength of laws to combat human trafficking (Carmichael, 2021; Shared Hope International, 2021). Georgia representatives have also been recognized for raising awareness and educating citizens throughout the state on the topic of human trafficking (Carmichael, 2021).

Continuing Education and Training

Enhancing the training of members of civil society, social service agencies, educators, law enforcement officers, and government officials, to increase the identification of victims is recognized as an essential method of combatting human trafficking (Christenson, 2012; Mahapatra et al., 2019; NAPCHT, 2020; Nguyen et al., 2018; Okech et al., 2018). Professional's stakeholders benefit from having a deep understanding of the adverse impact of human trafficking on society and can counteract human traffickers' tactics, techniques, and reduce vulnerabilities through education efforts (Christenson, 2012; NAPCHT, 2020). Collaboration among stakeholders is a paramount method of preventing and detecting human trafficking victims, with proper and continuous education at the forefront of techniques (Christenson, 2012; NAPCHT, 2020; U.S. Department of Education [USDE], 2017). As such, the National Action Plan to Combat Human Trafficking identified enhancing outreach and education efforts to prevent human trafficking as a top priority of the initiative (NAPCHT, 2020).

Incorporating effective continuing education initiatives for social workers

providing services to victims of human trafficking is an essential component to identifying this social injustice (Mahapatra et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018; Okech et al., 2018; Tortolero, 2020). Tortolero (2020) adds that many organizations offer continuing education for social workers serving victims of human trafficking in the way of credit for simply reading or reviewing trafficking-related material and completing post-test assessments. The post-test assessments provide a basic evaluation of knowledge and self-efficacy in handling trafficking incidents, and do not measure the value added, nor demonstrate mastery of the learning outcomes (Powell et al., 2017; Tortolero, 2020).

Developed Undergraduate and Graduate Courses on Human Trafficking

Tortolero (2020) and Powell et al. (2017) argue that undergraduate, graduate, and continuing education trainings for social workers and health care professionals in identifying trafficked victims are limited and seriously lacking. Although educational programs related to human trafficking for social workers have expanded globally over the decades, there is still evidence that programs remain inadequate (Powell et al., 2017; Tortolero, 2020). Current higher education curricula provide a "general working knowledge" of human trafficking identification, however, practitioners would benefit from increased training encompassing victim intervention strategies (Tortolero, 2020). Other programs with ineffective procedures include sporadic education and training, the lack of rigorous research to determine outcomes, and limited evaluation of exhibited behavior change from education and training initiatives (Powell et al., 2017; Stanton, 2020, & Tortolero, 2020).

Lutz (2018) reports that integrating human trafficking education into an established curriculum ensures students' exposure to important content before

working with human trafficking victims. Mahapatra et al. (2019), Nguyen et al. (2018), and Okech et al. (2018) argue that improved education fosters increased awareness for social workers to adequately identify and assist victims of human trafficking. Currently, there is no requirement for colleges to have a standard curriculum for teaching students about human trafficking, which contributes to missed educational opportunities to identify and impact vulnerable populations in the practice setting (Lutz, 2018).

Undergraduate and graduate-level social work courses related to human trafficking have been implemented into various traditional and online platforms (Lewis et al., 2018; Lucio et al., 2020). Practices vary from general introductory knowledge of human trafficking and the extent of multiple activities involved (Lewis et al., 2018). Many professors focus on an international perspective as there is a critical need for international human trafficking education and global social justice advocacy (Lewis et al., 2018; Lucio et al., 2020). The authors state that integrating human trafficking education into the school of communicative social work courses will help practitioners guide practice when working with victims of human trafficking (Lewis et al., 2018; Lucio et al., 2020).

The University of Georgia has tried to arm officials and service providers around the globe with accurate and trusted data to better address human trafficking (McGinty, 2021). The School of Social Work at the University of Georgia recently received \$15.75 million from the U.S. Department of State to expand programs and research to help reduce human trafficking (CENHTRO, 2021; University of Georgia [UGA], 2019). The award will help step up the University of Georgia's current-based African Programming and Research Initiative to End Slavery (APRIES) by providing

more resources to develop courses and research opportunities around human trafficking (CENHTRO, 2021; UGA, 2019). The University of Georgia developed APRIES courses to collect data on reducing human trafficking worldwide (CENHTRO, 2021; UGA, 2019). APRIES include researchers who are housed at The University of Georgia (US) and The University of Liverpool in the United Kingdom (UK, CENHTRO, 2021; UGA, 2019). The project utilizes an innovative, collaborative impact approach that encourages participation from various government officials (CENHTRO, 2021; UGA, 2019). The researchers also make efforts by using a collective impact approach in researching and policy intervention to achieve the goal of reducing human trafficking and modern slavery in selected regions (CENHTRO, 2021; UGA, 2019). The data collected from these courses will inform government policy and provide enhanced programs for social work students interested in human trafficking (CENHTRO, 2021; UGA, 2019).

Some universities have programs that provide education and training on identifying human trafficking victims, but it is not widespread. For example, Florida State University and Vanguard University in California offer programs that supply an overall understanding of human trafficking and what it looks like, partly due to the high numbers of human trafficking cases reported in each state.

In 2019, 896 human trafficking cases were reported to officials in the state of Florida, which continues to rise each year (Lopez, 2021). Due to the alarming number of human trafficking cases in Florida, The School of Social Work at Florida State University, and the Center on Academic and Professional Advancement (2021) have launched a new online course called Professional Certification in Human Trafficking Prevention and Intervention. School officials thought it was necessary for students to

understand the importance of knowing how to identify a victim of human trafficking (Florida State University, 2021). This course allows social work students to develop the knowledge, skills, and ability to understand the dynamics of human trafficking, its adverse impact, and how to recognize that a crime has occurred (Florida State University, 2021). The course provides significant information on how to identify victims of human trafficking and what skills are needed when working with identified clients (Florida State University, 2021). When taking this course, students are expected to complete the seven chapters to include researched-based reading, scenarios, multi-media materials, assignments, and quizzes (Florida State University, 2021).

Vanguard University, a private Christian school in Orange County, California, developed an Anti-Human Trafficking Certification program to address educational gaps (Vanguard University, 2021). The certification is open to graduate students seeking to improve their expertise in the subject area to mitigate future cases in the state (Vanguard University, 2021). Participants develop the necessary skills and expertise to recognize human trafficking occurrences and intervention strategies (Vanguard University, 2021). The College of the Canyons, located in Santa Clarita, California, provides additional training on human trafficking and is open to all students and community professionals free of charge (College of the Canyons, 2020). Like the Anti-Human Trafficking Certification program at Vanguard University, participants develop their knowledge and skills related to identifying human trafficking victims and understanding of providing competent support practices (College of the Canyons, 2020).

A review of the significant literature created an understanding of how the lack

of formal education and training adversely impacts social workers providing services to victims of human trafficking (Christenson, 2012; Mahapatra et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018; Okech et al., Powell et al., 2017; Tortolero, 2020). The review also illustrated how an inconsistency in the use of proper identification tools exists, and the challenges created that impact professionals trying to identify human trafficking victims (Chisolm-Straker et al., 2019; Davy, 2016; Greenbaum et al., 2018; Pate et al., 2021). Ludwig von Bertalanffy's Systems Theory (1964) provides a conceptual understanding of how interrelated and interdependent parts interact within complex systems comprising individual, small, and global systems. The theoretical approach allows social work practitioners to identify and understand the multitude of factors involved in the multi-layer relationships that develop from within victims of human trafficking (Banson et al., 2018; Johnson, 2019; Walker, 2019). Moreover, Systems Theory provides a practice model to explore the psychological, sociological, and biological implications of human trafficking to create effective interventions (Banson et al., 2018; Meshelemiah & Lynch, 2019; Walker, 2019). It also helps social workers understand clients' interactions within a larger environment and explain resulting behaviors in terms of reciprocal relationships (perpetrator/victim) within the system (Masilo, 2018).

The literature review provided a venue to explore themes related to the adequacy of education and training on identifying victims of human trafficking in the practice setting (Christenson, 2012; Mahapatra et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018; Okech et al., Powell et al., 2017; Tortolero, 2020). The review demonstrates how current procedures in identifying human trafficking victims are lacking due to inconsistencies in identification tools and sporadic undergraduate, graduate, and

continuing education practices (Powell et al., 2017; Tortolero, 2020). Systemically there are gaps in education for social workers working with human trafficking victims (Powell, 2018). Researchers describe current education as inadequate, limited, and serious lacking for social workers and health care professionals in identifying human trafficked victims, which creates barriers to effective interventions (Christenson, 2012; Powell et al., 2017; Tortolero, 2020). Additionally, while many Federal and state public policies, laws, and programs exist to address human trafficking, states subsequently implement practices differently, adding to the challenges of adequately educating stakeholders (Christenson, 2012; Mahapatra et al., 2019; NAPCHT, 2020; Nguyen et al., 2018; Okech et al., 2018). For example, some states require mandatory education for medical professionals and social workers, while others train employees in the hospitality industry (Carmichael, 2021; Coonan, 2003; Jarvi, 202; NJDE, 2019; Singleton, 2020; Stanton, 2020). Gaps in educational standards adversely impact service delivery for identified stakeholders, as many are not equipped to correctly identify victims of human trafficking (Carmichael, 2021; Coonan, 2003; Jarvi, 202; NJDE, 2019; Singleton, 2020).

Information related to the lack of appropriate educational practices in undergraduate, graduate, and continuing education curricula in identifying victims of human trafficking in social work is well-documented (Christenson, 2012; Mahapatra et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018; Okech et al., Powell et al., 2017; Steiner et al., 2018; Tortolero, 2020). Fernandes et al. (2020) argue that education is a crucial element for social work delivery to adequately identify human trafficking victims. The research did not uncover any controversial issues, and it provided an understanding of the challenges related to formally educating and training stakeholders. Data collection

substantiated that integrating human trafficking education into established curricula is necessary to expose students to important content before entering the field (Christenson 2011; Fernandes et al., 2020; Lutz 2018). Fernandes et al. (2020) argues it is a crucial element to effective social work delivery. A gap in the literature exists explaining the best methodology to incorporate to improve formal education curricula before working with victims of human trafficking. Current ideas remain to be studied to improve formal education practices for social workers.

Summary

Human trafficking is a global billion-dollar criminal enterprise (Hu, 2019). Nonetheless, equipped social services agencies could effectively detect and deter human trafficking with the proper education and training resources. Section one provides a base for the study and a comprehensive review of the academic literature on human trafficking and how social workers may not identify potential victims adequately. The scope of ongoing human trafficking has placed enormous demands on social work practitioners (Hu, 2019). Social workers are essential elements of the human trafficking community, and the need for training on identifying victims grows daily (Hu, 2019).

I used a qualitative research design to determine if social workers have the necessary formal training to identify human trafficking victims adequately. Section two will include the research design, methodology, data analysis, ethical procedures, and summary. Section three will focus on the methodology, recruitment of participants, data collection, and analysis of the data.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Social work practitioners providing services to victims of human trafficking are ill-equipped to adequately identify victims, in part, due to education gaps (Carmichael, 2021; Christenson, 2012; Mahapatra et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2018; Okech et al., Powell et al., 2017; Singleton, 2020; Stanton, 2020; Steiner et al., 2018; Tortolero, 2020). Education on how to identify victims of human trafficking in the practice setting needs to improve (Nsonwu, 2019). Knowledge is crucial for direct service professionals to fully understand the complexities of identifying human trafficking victims, especially in efforts to prevent victims from withholding that they are involved in a trafficking situation (Scannel & Conso, 2020). Yet there is limited research and data on social workers and if they have formal training to adequately identify human trafficking victims in the practice setting (Hu, 2019).

This section contains a description of the research design, methodology, data analysis, and ethical procedures for this study. Within the research design section, I include the research questions and social work practice problem and explain how basic qualitative research fits this study. Next, I examine the data collection measures, instrumentation, and participants' responses in the methodology section. Lastly, I address and provide the process for analyzing the data and the ethical procedures that I followed.

Research Design

Researchers have reported that human service providers are ill-equipped to identify victims of human trafficking adequately (Williams et al., 2018). In Georgia, I have observed social workers assessing clients and not asking specific questions related to human trafficking or identifying behaviors. Social workers appear to ignore

critical environmental factors and signs of human trafficking, resulting in essential clues being missed in the information gathering process. For example, an unsafe environment may include the victim being found in a hotel room and not disclosing the perpetrator. Social workers may miss opportunities to identify victims and thoroughly assess situations, which may allow the victims to return to being trafficked. However, there are sporadic education and training programs available for social workers to identify human trafficking victims (Birks, 2021; Nsonwu, 2019; Williams et al., 2018). It is essential to determine if relevant training is available for social workers to identify and properly serve this vulnerable population (Birks, 2021; Nsonwu, 2019). This study was thus conducted to answer the following:

- RQ 1: What are social workers experiences with formal education received in the identification of human trafficking victims?
- RQ 2: What training experiences do social workers receive in the identification of human trafficking victims?

I interviewed social workers employed in the human trafficking department because they evaluate clients daily. The unique position of these practitioners offered a front-line view to answering the research questions because they directly served this vulnerable population. The methodology and data collected may provide practitioners with potential explanations for understanding the need to improve education and training focusing on specified situations and localized solutions. The method aligned well with the research topic because it offered a close partnership between the researcher and interested social workers in identifying potential education training gaps.

Methodology

I requested permission in writing via electronic mail from two directors of a child advocacy agency at two different locations to interview social workers in the social work department. I asked the directors to disburse the electronic message to designated staff (social workers only). Once distributed, the social workers were instructed to reply to me, request an informational letter, and obtain informed consent. After potential participants reviewed the letter and informed consent form and agreed to participate, social workers responded via electronic email, stating, "I consent."

Those who agreed to participate returned a signed copy of the informed consent form using email. I contacted each practitioner to schedule an interview through Microsoft Teams Communications. I selected Microsoft Teams

Communications platforms because it offered a virtual venue to videoconference participants using technology-based platforms and allowed me to record each session. Within the informed consent form, the participants were notified that they would be recorded. I assigned each participant a code (i.e., Interviewee 1) to conceal their identity and ensure confidentiality.

Semi structured interviews were used for this study (Bradford & Cullen, 2012). The use of semi structured interviews helped me explore the level of education and training social workers possessed to adequately identify human trafficking victims in the practice setting. This data collection was a flexible tool to gather data and explore the education and training of the participants.

Following the interviews, I transcribed each interview in detail prior to member checking. I used member checking to verify the accuracy of the information with the participants once I completed the collection of information (Naidu & Prose,

2018). Each participant was sent a transcript for verification.

Participants

I requested permission to speak with 10 social workers from two directors of a child advocacy agency in two different locations. Interviewing 10 social workers provided an opportunity to ascertain their experiences and determine the level of education and training received to adequately identify victims of human trafficking. I requested the directors to disburse the electronic message to designated staff (social workers only). Once the electronic messages were sent to the social workers, the social workers replied to me and requested an informational letter. I sent an informed consent form to the participants. After the social workers reviewed the interview information and consent form, they replied to me via electronic message with "I consent." Once the social workers sent the signed consent forms, I scheduled the sessions to be completed on a Saturday. The interviews were completed through Microsoft TEAMS and each session was recorded.

Instrumentation

I developed a set of interview questions (Appendix A) to use during the semi structured interviews, exploring the education and training of social workers to identify human trafficking victims adequately. I ascertained answers by meeting with the social workers individually via Microsoft TEAMS. The questions sought to understand the richness of responses from social workers who work with human trafficking victims daily. The interviews began with introductions and thanking them for participating in my study. I started asking the questions following the brief introduction. The data received was saturated, so I did not ask the participants follow-up questions.

Data Analysis

After conducting the semi structured interviews with the participants, I established codes, categories, and themes within the data collected. The first step was to code the data collected. Coding is a data analysis strategy in which some aspect of the data is assigned a descriptive label that allows the researcher to identify related content across the data (Illinois Library, 2023). In vivo coding was used to emphasize the words of the research participants. I wrote the words used by the participants on a sticky note and placed each on a large poster board to develop the coding. The participants' words were used to summarize and label the text of extracted data to ascertain recurring themes and patterns. These patterns allowed me to determine categories or themes that ultimately answered the research questions for this study.

The second step was categorizing the information by grouping codes using similar words that the participants used during the interviews. Categorizing consists of identifying and grouping data to form a collective whole for retrieval and review (Oworkers, 2023). The third step was to place each category into themes, or an outcome phrase or sentence that features the participants' accounts characterizing perceptions and experiences relevant to the research question (The University of Huddersfield, 2023). The results added to the rigor and quality of the study by analyzing local problems and guiding inquiry to develop an understanding of the problem through the participants' professional experiences. While categorizing the information, I continually used reflexivity to mitigate potential research bias while creating reliability, trustworthiness, and credibility of the findings.

Ethical Procedures

Following Walden University Institution Review Board approval (12-29-22-

0675607), I began the recruitment process. Ethical procedures were implemented to ensure the safety, privacy, and confidentiality of participants and the professional conduct of the researcher. Each participant was assigned a code name and number (i.e., Interviewee I). As stated in the informational letter and informed consent, the participant's identity was not documented in the interview transcription.

I shared the information letter pertaining to the nature of the study with the research participants via electronic mail. The information letter included an informed consent form for participants to sign and return to me via electronic mail. The informational letter and informed consent forms allowed the participants to read and consider their decision to participate. I requested participants to reply within 7 calendar days from the initial receipt of the electronic mail to allow time to reflect on participating in the study. I sent a follow-up email to answer any questions or clarify concerns within the 7 calendar days. I stored the collected data according to Walden University guidelines in a locked filing cabinet to ensure the ethical protection of participants' names and responses which I will only have access to. Disposal of information will commence after 5 years using manual shredding procedures.

Summary

Section 2 outlined the research design and data collection process in detail to adequately research the education and training social workers have to identify victims of human trafficking in practice. A semi structured interview for collecting data was the methodology selected for this research. Next, I provided a detailed method for analyzing the data, including in vivo coding, purposeful sampling, and member checking. Finally, I discussed ethical procedures to ensure participant confidentiality, informed consent, information protection, and proper retrieval, storage, and

destruction. Section 3 presents the data analysis techniques used and the findings to answer the research questions.

Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

This qualitative study was conducted to explore social workers' level of education and training to identify human trafficking victims in the practice setting correctly. Currently, limited research studies address social workers' preparedness levels to identify human trafficking victims adequately. Social workers play a vital role in advocating for vulnerable populations (Cox, 2018; Nsonwu, 2019). Evidence demonstrates that people experiencing trafficking will commonly seek attention, especially from social service departments which presents a rare opportunity to identify and support those in need (Dols, et al., 2019). However, their ability to identify victims of human trafficking has remained limited (Gonzalez-Pons, 2019; Nsonwu et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2018).

Few research studies have explored the education and training social workers are provided to adequately identify human trafficking victims and its impact on serving this vulnerable population. Within this study, I spoke with agencies that provide services to human trafficking victims. The agency's social work practice included meeting the needs of sexually and severely physically abused women and children through prevention, intervention, therapy, and collaboration. The research focused on two research questions: What are social workers' experiences with formal education received in the identification of human trafficking victims, and What training experiences do social workers receive in the identification of human trafficking victims? I collected data from social workers employed in agencies that specialized in serving victims of human trafficking. Ten interview sessions were scheduled and conducted using remote technology. I initially planned interviews for a 2-hour block; however, each took 1 hour or less. All participants held social work

degrees (e.g., graduate level, licensed/unlicensed) and provided services to human trafficking victims. Section 3 introduces the purpose of the study, data collection methods, and the data analysis. This section also includes a discussion of the professional demographics of participating members, data analysis techniques, validation procedures, limitations, and findings.

Data Analysis Techniques

Eleven social workers expressed interest in participating in the semi structured interviews. I eliminated one social worker due to residing outside the State of Georgia. I began scheduling interviews after receiving the requested information from the social workers who consented to participate in the research study. The entire data collection process took 2 weeks. While speaking with the participants via email, I intentionally ensured they provided me with the time and date they were available to complete the interview (see Appendix B).

To begin validating the procedures used in the research process, I manually transcribed the audio recordings to prepare for data analysis. After manually transcribing the audio recording, I began member-checking by having study participants review and confirm their interview transcripts. I used member-checking to ensure the accuracy of the information as articulated by the interview participants (Motulsky, 2021). I contacted participants through email to provide them with the interview transcribed data. Each participant emailed me to confirm that the results reflected their experiences within one business day.

I encountered several limitations at the beginning of this study. I contacted two county directors requesting permission to interview 10 social workers within their agencies. One county director never responded. The other county director responded,

stating that she would email me the following week with her decision for approval.

After waiting 2 weeks for a response, I contacted the county director via telephone.

She stated that she had to obtain permission from the agency's legal department. After receiving the information, I emailed my capstone chair to request a meeting to discuss my concerns. My chair and I met to consider the limitations and brainstorm other options for completing the research interviews.

After meeting with my chair, I contacted a different county director to ask permission to speak with their social workers for the research. She approved but stated she had to confer with the human resources team for permission. I completed the request for change IRB form and submitted it electronically. After contacting IRB, I received approval to add a new county director to conduct the research. I sent the invitation via email to the county director. After sending the invitation to the county director, I received a telephone call stating the human resource department approved the interviews; however, the legal department still needed to review my request. After the legal department did not approve the interviews, I searched for other agencies providing services to human trafficking victims. I found two agencies, contacted them, and introduced myself and my research. Both agencies permitted me to complete the study. I finished the request for an IRB change and resubmitted it electronically. I obtained IRB approval to add the two new agencies and sent both agency directors the invitation through email for permission to interview their social workers.

Findings

I used a semi structured interview approach and asked the same open-ended questions (Appendix A) in each interview and in the same order. I used the semi

structured interview method as it elicits narratives that can be highly meaningful, as they turn questions about a given topic into storytelling invitations (Mahat-Shamir et al., 2021). Semi structured interviews allowed participants to reply freely, meaning the recorded data was not changed to correct grammar or wording, which is reflected in the responses. All questions were asked as written and approved by the institutional review board to mitigate potential bias or influence of the findings (Friedman, 2022). Each interview session lasted an hour or less. I asked clarifying and follow-up questions on unclear information. Each participant was provided a code (using numbers 1–10) via Microsoft TEAMS at the beginning of each interview session to protect confidentiality.

Demographics

Participants were of different age ranges, ethnicities, and experience levels. The age range of the participants was 24 to 50 years of age (see Table 1). There were five African American female participants and five Caucasian female participants. All 10 participants held a Master of Social Work (MSW) degree, and three were Licensed Mastered Social Workers (LMSW).

Table 1Participant Demographics

Participant	Race	Education Level	Social	Specialty Area of Service
			Work	
			Licensure	
Participant 1	Caucasian	Master's degree	None	Individual counseling/resource
				referral
Participant 2	Caucasian	Master's degree	None	Resource acquisition/basic needs -
				food, clothing, shelter
Participant 3	African	Master's degree	LMSW	Child Advocacy
	American			
Participant 4	African	Master's degree	LMSW	Child Protective Services
	American			
Participant 5	Caucasian	Master's degree	None	Child Protective Services
Participant 6	African	Master's degree	LMSW	Child Advocacy – individual/ group
	American			counseling

Participant 7	African	Master's degree	None	Child Advocacy – victim assistance
	American			services (employment/shelter)
Participant 8	African	Master's degree	None	Medical Case Management
	American			
Participant 9	Caucasian	Master's degree	None	Child Advocacy – counseling
Participant 10	Caucasian	Master's degree	None	Child Protective Services – foster
				care placement

Ten social workers participated in the interviews. Participant 1 currently works as a social worker and provides resources and individual counseling to human trafficking victims. Participant 2 currently works as a social worker and provides resources to human trafficking victims such as food, clothing, shelter, and counseling. Participant 3 currently works as a social worker within a child advocacy center for human trafficking victims. Participant 4 currently works as a social worker with child protective services and has 10 years of experience. Participant 5 currently works as a social worker within child protective services. Participant 6 currently works as a social worker with the child advocacy center providing group and individual counseling and has more than 15 years of experience. Participant 7 currently works as a social worker with the child advocacy center, providing victim assistance such as housing and employment resources. Participant 8 currently works as a social worker specializing in medical care referrals for human trafficking victims and has more than 15 years of experience. Participant 9 currently works as a social worker within the child advocacy center providing counseling to human trafficking victims. Participant 10 currently works as a social worker within the child protective service agency within the foster care unit.

Interview Questions: Data Results

The following provides an outcome summary of every question discussed in the interview sessions.

Please Describe Your Formal Educational Experiences Related to the Identification of Human Trafficking Victims

Participant 1 stated,

I got into the Bachelor of Social Work program at the University of Georgia for social work and narrowed down my interest to sexual abuse. My first experience was at the Child Advocacy Center for working with victims of sexual assault. That is when I was introduced to human trafficking and how to identify the victims. I also took an elective once I got into the master's program.

Participant 2 stated, "I have sexual violence formal education, but no deep dive into human trafficking." Participant 3 stated, "I didn't have any." Participant 4 stated, "In my profession, I do deal with quite a few individuals who are identified as sexual abuse victims or trafficking, so that requires a bit of training, formal and informal." Participant 5 stated, "I don't have any formal education in identifying human trafficking victims." Participant 6 stated, "Well, um, I have a Master's in social work from Valdosta State University. That's it as far as formal education." Participant 7 stated, "In graduate school, I took one class on human trafficking victims, and we focused on how to identify the signs, indicators of abuse, people who are most vulnerable, and things of that nature." Participant 8 stated, "I went to a one- or two-day training, but it wasn't on identifying victims. That's it." Participant 9 stated, "I have my bachelor's and master's in social work. In my bachelor's, we had multiple people come to speak to us in class such as the police. In my master's I don't remember any human trafficking education." Participant 10 stated,

I don't think I have extensive formal training in CSEC [Commercial Sexual

Exploitation of Children] victims. I think it's mostly continuing education that I will have to seek out myself. Or it may have been a part of other training.

Among the 10 interviewees, 20% stated they have formal educational experiences related to the identification of human trafficking victims. The other 80% reported they have no formal educational experiences related to the identification of human trafficking victims. These responses provided that there is little to no formal education on the identification of human trafficking victims being provided to social workers who work with human trafficking victims.

What Educational Background in the Identification of Human Trafficking Victims

Do You Believe is Required for Your Social Work Position?

Participant 1 stated,

I feel like having a background in how to communicate with children is important as well as learning the vulnerabilities that are going on in our populations and communities. That's important. Also just taking traumainformed classes and learning the language and how to communicate to trafficked victims is important with building trust.

Participant 2 stated,

Basic one on one on what CSEC [Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children] is, what it looks like, what healthy relationships are, the behaviors, learning the language of victims, etc. Social workers will need to look for children creating sexual acts of themselves and selling it, which is considered human trafficking as well, making sure the language is victim-centered and not victim blaming.

Participant 3 stated,

Anything in social services or human services field because you would need to know how to interact with people or how to communicate with people. You need to learn social interaction with people in general. That would be the steppingstone for it.

Participant 4 stated, "I think ongoing training is needed because again, it changes all the time whether it's male or female, locations, identities, LBGTQ folks because there has been an increase in those sexual abuse cases." Participant 5 stated, "For my position, I work with students in school, so there is a large network that supports students. I don't think it's necessary but it's not something that would be irrelevant." Participant 6 stated, "I think that more um, more knowledge about how to identify the victims, as well as strategies to keep them safe." Participant 7 stated, "Being able to identify verbal and nonverbal, physical communication when people are feeling threatened, I work in a hospital setting so you can see different things, you need to know the verbal cues and the nonverbal cues." Participant 8 stated, "For my position, I would say none because I don't do direct client work anymore." Participant 9 stated, "Good question. Probably more training on how to identify victims, yearly or every other year, making it a little more tailored to the work setting." Participant 10 stated, "I think everyone needs to be clear on what human trafficking is and what it looks like because it looks very different within the media. Also, some level of practice and shadowing someone, kind of like a peer review."

Question number 2 provided that 90% of the participants reported that there needs to be education and training on how to identify human trafficking victims, what the environment for human trafficking may look like, nonverbal and verbal cues, etc., for their social work positions. Only one participant provided that she did not need

any education and training on the identification of human trafficking victims for her social work position. This information shows that most social workers believe there needs to be some education and training on the identification of human trafficking victims for their social work positions.

Please Describe Training Other Than Formal Education You Experienced on the Identification of Human Trafficking Victims

Participant 1 stated,

I work with CSEC which is Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children, so we cover things like home environments, whether have they been sexually abused, are they running away, internet safety, keeping phone secure, changing passwords, meeting friends their caregivers don't know about, learn to use the same language the children use, learn how to stay on toes. No case looks the same.

Participant 2 stated, "CSEC 101 which includes what human trafficking looks like, the language, poly victimization, other issues that led up to this point, and learning about childhood experiences."

Participant 3 stated,

I've gone to training, not through my agency, but outside of my agency such as lightness to darkness training, generic training with definition on human trafficking, and CSEC [Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children] training. General information training, training on how to keep teens from human trafficking, different ways that children are lured into trafficking through social media, etc.

Participant 4 stated, "Working with the hospital has been huge, noticing different

bruises and marks, and noticing how they communicate and express. That has been training in itself." Participant 5 stated,

I feel like the most I've heard or understood was small info sessions like lunch and learns during our breaks, but a lot of them were resources to offer people if you know they are a victim. I don't have any training with identifying victims.

Participant 6 stated, "I've been to quite a few professional development trainings, what we call CSEC [Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children] training throughout the year, especially when we saw it becoming more of a trend."

Participant 7 stated, "It's been a while now. My last training was probably four or five years ago. I can't remember the specific topics that were covered." Participant 8 stated, "I'm trying to think if I've done any other ones. Nope, because I can't remember, but I don't remember so I will say none." Participant 9 stated, "I don't think I've had any other ones, maybe some things were mentioned briefly in sexual harassment for employers, and maybe in child sexual abuse, but nothing specific."

Participant 10 stated, "I think most of the training is pretty basic, like warning signs.

The rest is experimental, like case by case."

In question number 3, 30% of the participants provided that they had some training on the identification of human trafficking victims. The other 70% provided that they have not had any education or training on the identification of human trafficking victims. These responses demonstrate that there is little to no training provided to social workers on the identification of human trafficking victims.

What Training on Identifying Human Trafficking Victims is Provided to you Through Your Employer, If Any?

Participant 1 stated, "Several pieces of training that people with lived experience that give their opinions are provided. Also, community vulnerability training, training throughout the year, and training on what other states are doing." Participant 2 stated, "CSEC [Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children] response training in which they provide and host training with people from all over the country. West Coast Institute that has a human trafficking identification tool that we use also provides training." Participant 3 stated, "None were put on from my agency. All those trainings were provided by other agencies that I keep up with for my role with my agency. There is nothing in my agency that is formal." Participant 4 stated,

We usually have a few mandatory that we do every 6 months that are online and specific for the agency we work for. It includes how to identify, what services to implement, and how to move forward with assisting those clients who are in need.

Participant 5 stated, "There's not any." Participant 6 stated, "Just pretty much basic introduction training on how to identify victims of human trafficking, where to refer them, etc." Participant 7 stated, "There is no training on how to identify human trafficking victims within the hospital." Participant 8 stated, "I can't tell you the name of it, but there is a training available that is self-paced, we do have access to a system where courses on identifying human trafficking victims are available." Participant 9 stated, "So far I have not seen any training provided for in-person held by our agency." Participant 10 stated, "I had to complete an advocate training, but it wasn't solely on human trafficking. There were some bits about human trafficking but not

identification."

In response to question number 4, 60% of participants provided that there is no education and training on the identification of human trafficking victims offered to them through their employers. The other 40% stated that their employers do provide some education and training on the identification of human trafficking victims.

However, it appears over half of employers offer very little education and training.

How Would You Evaluate Your Experiences With Training in Identifying Human

Trafficking Victims Provided by Your Employer, If Any?

Participant 1 stated,

I would say my employer does a really good job with getting feedback from the team, so we request different things we would like to learn about. We get training on identifying human trafficking victims and other things we need to learn about to strengthen the knowledge we already have.

Participant 2 stated, "I feel very confident in my ability to identify a child that has been trafficked." Participant 3 stated, "None has been provided by my agency, but the training has been okay. They are starting to be redundant because they are not updating data outside of adding victim experience training." Participant 4 stated,

I'm at about a 7 on a scale of 1 to 10. We don't have a whole lot with our agency. We can use more. I think our agency must implement more training on the identification of human trafficking victims.

Participant 5 stated, "There's not any, so I say low." Participant 6 stated, "I would say basic, poor to basic because it's limited, we need more repeat training, and it needs to be consistent, and it needs to be for all social workers." Participant 7 stated, "I would evaluate my experience as low through my employer. You can come across different

types of people, so you need different types of training." Participant 8 stated, "On a scale from 1 to 5, I would give my employer a 2 because they did provide training, there is policy, however, it is not a part of the annual training provided. There is no consistency." Participant 9 stated, "I have not had any, so it will be none." Participant 10 stated, "I wish I had more opportunities. I wish we had continuing training on how to identify."

In response to question number 5, 80% of the participants rated their employers very low in evaluating their experiences with training in identifying human trafficking victims. The other 20% reported being very satisfied with the training provided through their employer on the identification of human trafficking victims. These responses demonstrate that there are social work agencies that are not making education and training on the identification of human trafficking victims a priority for the practitioners serving this vulnerable population.

Based on Your Experiences, What Knowledge and/or Training do you Believe are Needed to Identify Human Trafficking Victims Adequately?

Participant 1 stated,

I think you need to get training from human trafficking victims themselves because they are doing the work. You also need to speak with sexual assault centers and advocacy centers to see what they are seeing just so we can identify before it gets to trafficking.

Participant 2 stated, "Basic understanding of what CSEC [Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children] is or what human trafficking is." Participant 3 stated, "The basic thing we need to do in general, and I don't know how we will do this because you have to get over public misconception but have a concrete knowledge of what

human trafficking is." Participant 4 stated, "We need training across the board such as locations, racially, identifying sexually, what it looks like, what drugs are involved, etc." Participant 5 stated, "Training specific to what type of work you do would be helpful. The way I would identify, it would look different than someone one on one with a victim or someone from a shelter." Participant 6 stated, "I think being able to identify some of the main characteristics, particularly our foster kids too because a lot of our kids are going into that rim, we need to be able to identify certain characteristics." Participant 7 stated, "The training I think would need to include rape, age group, location as far as geography, states that are related, what it looks like demographically for different populations and major highways." Participant 8 stated, "In addition to initial training, there needs to be follow-up training that includes being able to identify the signs, and areas where it occurs." Participant 9 stated, "Probably mandatory onboarding training to get a baseline knowledge of what we are looking for." Participant 10 stated, "That's a great question. I think we all need a basic level of understanding. It can be geared towards child advocacy, maybe someone who screens reports, what triggers to look for, but it needs to be specialized sometimes."

In response to question number 10, 100% of the participants report that there is a need for education and training on the identification of human trafficking for social workers. The participants made it very clear that training on the identification of human trafficking victims is essential for social workers to identify trafficked victims adequately.

This qualitative study aimed to identify if social workers have the education and training to identify human trafficking victims adequately. The overall findings answered the two research questions concerning the formal education and training

social workers receive to identify human trafficking victims in the practice environment. Participants agreed that they do not have substantial education on adequately identifying human trafficking victims nor receive proper training in their employment settings.

Themes

The following information extrapolated from the data identifies the common themes, main points, and outcomes explained by the interview participants (see Table 2). The coded answers discussed by the participants were summarized to provide an overview of their professional experiences.

Table 2Employment Provided Training by Topic and Evaluation Practices

Identification Training	Communication Training	Proficiency Evaluation
None: 6 participants	None: 5 participants	None: 8 participants
High: 2 participants	High: 2 participants	High: 2 participants
No Answer: 2	No Answer: 3 participants	
participants		

Theme 1

Social work participants reported there is no training on identifying human trafficking victims through their employment. Participants in each interview session overwhelmingly agreed that there is very little to no training provided to them on the identification of human trafficking victims within their employment.

Theme 2

Social work participants reported that training in communication skills is needed for practitioners. Participants in each interview session overwhelmingly concurred that improved communication skills are required to identify human trafficking victims in their employment positions to ensure victims are identified correctly and their basic needs are met.

Theme 3

Social work participants evaluated their experiences with training provided by their employers as low in identifying human trafficking victims. Most participants in the study reported that their employers do not provide training for the identification of human trafficking victims. The participants reported that they must find training themselves to ensure they have the skills to identify human trafficking victims adequately.

Unexpected Findings

The current study addresses whether social workers have the education and training to identify human trafficking victims correctly. One unexpected finding included two social workers evaluating their employers highly regarding the training received to pinpoint human trafficking victims adequately. Another unexpected result included three social workers reporting formal educational experiences in identifying human trafficking victims. Most respondents stated they had not received formal education on identifying human trafficking victims due to this population not being as prominent when they attended college.

Summary

The overall findings answered the two research questions concerning social workers' experiences and the level of formal education and training received to identify human trafficking victims in the practice environment adequately.

Interviewed participants acknowledged that no formal instruction for social workers includes identifying human trafficking victims. Participants also acknowledged that

there is very little on the job training and evaluation practices provided to social workers related to properly identifying human trafficking victims. Participants agreed that social workers require education and training on identifying human trafficking victims within the field to adequately service and communicate with this vulnerable population.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

The purpose of this qualitative study was to identify what formal education social workers have in the identification of human trafficking victims. I also sought to identify the training experiences, if any, social workers receive in the identification of human trafficking victims. This qualitative research included 10 interview sessions with 10 social workers serving human trafficking victims. Data were collected over 2 weeks. Participants reported that a need exists to increase training related to the identification of human trafficking victims as there is very little available. Participants also reported that they did not have any formal education in identifying human trafficking victims.

The findings inform social work practice about the reasons why employmentrelated training and formal education (undergraduate/graduate) on the identification of
human trafficking and effective methods of communicating with survivors are
necessary for social work providers. The research findings demonstrate the necessity
to assist social service agencies and institutes of higher learning with designing
education and training opportunities for social workers within the practice field. This
contribution to the research literature may enhance social work practices for agencies
by implementing targeted training programs to address the identification and
communication skills needed to assist human trafficking victims adequately. Section 4
reviews the application of professional ethics and recommendations for social work
practice. Section 4 also outlines the implications for social change in support of social
workers to improve preparedness for identifying and effectively communicating with
of human trafficking victims.

Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice

All the participating social workers who contributed to this research work with human trafficking victims or have worked with human trafficking victims in the past.

The 10 interview sessions represented four decades of social work practices. Each possessed outstanding social work cultural competence and professional ethics essential to effectively interacting with clients (NASW, 2017).

Developing a level of cultural competence and professional expertise to demonstrate proficiency in the identification of and proper communication with human trafficking victims in the social work environment are ethical principles associated with this research (NASW, 2017). Providing services in the human trafficking setting can be challenging if social workers are unaware of or understand the cultural dynamics, biases, and stigma surrounding the human trafficking environment (Fukushima et al., 2020). Understanding the characteristics, distinguishing attitudes, habits, institutional reinforcement, and providing sympathetic responses related to human trafficking incorporates effective practice within this unique culture (Fukushima et al., 2020). Understanding the characteristics of the human trafficking population also provides social work practitioners with insight to help individuals gain independence and become more open to receiving services (Fukushima et al., 2020).

The current study addressed whether social workers have the education and training to identify human trafficking victims adequately, another ethical guideline of professional social work practice (NASW, 2017). By identifying current trends impacting social workers and their ability to identify human trafficking victims, this study helps contribute to the knowledge base of the social work profession (NASW,

2017). The findings support the need for social workers to consistently complete education and training to identify human trafficking victims adequately (NASW, 2017). This contribution to academic literature may also assist social service agencies with implementing effective education and training programs to support the human trafficking population.

Recommendations for Social Work Practice

This research was a qualitative study designed to address whether social workers have the education and training to identify a human trafficking victim adequately. There are significant opportunities for further research regarding social workers' preparedness to identify human trafficking victims. While human trafficking is not a new occurrence, researchers are beginning to understand best practices and identify training proficiencies surrounding the identification of human trafficking victims (Wilson, 2020). Many social workers will encounter victims of the human trafficking, which is why awareness and training efforts related to human trafficking are essential for helping to identify victims correctly (Wilson, 2020).

The study results provide knowledge to address the gap in whether and to what degree of education and training social workers may have to identify a human trafficking victim. To further the findings of this study, taking the knowledge gained from this study and continuing further research may be beneficial for social workers to acquire the education and training to identify human trafficking victims appropriately. Further research would also benefit from expanding education and training for human trafficking globally.

The research's limitations included difficulty locating participants, which was unanticipated for this study. Three county directors declined the participation of their

social workers. The strength of this research project was the results. The results indicate that the research project was successful, and the participants provided knowledge about human trafficking. The strengths also included the participants providing information about the types of education and training required to help practitioners identify human trafficking victims successfully.

Implications for Social Change

Human trafficking impacts individuals, families, and communities (Recknor et al., 2022). Research from 2022 reports that human trafficking has impacted 25 million victims globally (Recknor et al., 2022). When I began this study in 2019, resources from a study completed in 2016 found that over 313,000 people globally experienced human trafficking, of which 79,000 were minors and youth (Mostajabian et al., 2019). Human trafficking has increased within the last 5 years and has more than tripled (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2023). The numbers have increased significantly since the beginning of this research.

Survivors may develop serious psychological, physical, and emotional issues from their trafficking exposure (Recknor et al., 2022). Human trafficking survivors may need various services to help them heal and navigate the world. However, many social workers may not be prepared to identify them correctly to address the various issues of these survivors (Recknor et al., 2022). This issue could be related to social workers not identifying human trafficking victims appropriately due to agencies not providing the education and training needed. In this study, 20 % of participants reported that their agency provided them with training to identify human trafficking victims. Eighty percent of the participants reported that their agencies did not provide them with training to identify human trafficking victims adequately. The gap

illustrates that social workers do not have the tools to identify human trafficking victims.

This research highlights the need for more education on human trafficking victims. Several formal education programs, such as bachelor's and master-level social work courses, have been developed over recent years. However, providers still lack education on identifying human trafficking (Lee H et al., 2021). This study contributes to social change by encouraging agencies to provide social workers with additional formal and informal education and training. Education and training will help social workers better identify victims correctly and provide them with the services needed. Agencies and organizations understanding the importance of identifying human trafficking victims may increase the interventions offered and possibly change policies and practices.

Organizations and academic institutions can also accomplish positive social change by improving the formal education and training for social workers who desire to work with human trafficking victims. Social workers who can effectively identify human trafficking victims may help survivors at the beginning of treatment, mitigating re-traumatization and the time involved in a trafficking situation.

Enhanced, educated, and supported social workers may mean a higher quality of global services to human trafficking victims.

Summary

Human trafficking is a form of modern-day slavery that significantly impacts its victims. Social workers need to identify human trafficking victims adequately to help end this horrific crime. Their level of preparedness will vary based on experiences, training, and support. Any missed opportunities by social workers to

identify victims of human trafficking is a missed opportunity to provide victims with the needed services to save their lives. Participants in this research study discussed the importance of enhancing training and education in identifying human trafficking victims. In the social work profession, additional research and trainings are needed to identify human trafficking victims adequately. This research can be used for social service staff education and training as well as training associated stakeholders working with the human trafficking population.

References

- Agreda, D. (2021). *Human trafficking awareness*. https://www.osceolasheriff.org/human-trafficking-awareness/
- Ahn, R., Alpert, E. J., Purcell, G., Konstantopoulos, W. M., McGahan, A., Cafferty, E., Eckardt, M., Conn, K. L., Cappetta, K., & Burke, T. F. (2013). Human trafficking. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 44(3), 283–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.10.025
- Ahvenainen, S. (2017). What systems theory and evolution can tell us about cyberwar? CCWS 2017 16th European Conference on Cyber Warfare and Security, Dublin, Ireland. https://www.academic-bookshop.com/ourshop/prod_6217567-ECCWS-2017-PDF-Proceedings-of-the-16th-European-Conference-on-Cyber-Warfare-and-Security.html
- Allen, S., & Marshall, J. (2019). What could happen when action research meets ideas of sociomateriality? *International Journal of Action Research*, 15(2–2019), 99–112. https://doi.org/10.3224/ijar.v15i2.02
- Anderson, D. (2018b). Mama Dorah: Uplifting grassroots efforts to combat human trafficking. *Social Work and Christianity*, *45*(2), 26–93. http://www.nacsw.org/Publications/Proceedings2016/AndersonDMamaDorah FINAL.pdf
- Anderson, V. (2017). Criteria for evaluating qualitative research. *Human Resource*Development Quarterly, 28(2), 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21282
- Atkinson, H. G., Curnin, K. J., & Hanson, N. C. (2016). U.S. state laws addressing human trafficking: Education of and mandatory reporting by health care providers and other professionals. *Journal of Human Trafficking*, 2(2), 111–

- 138. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322705.2016.1175885
- Banson, K. E., Nguyen, N. C., & Bosch, O. J. H. (2016). A systems thinking approach to the structure, conduct and performance of the agricultural sector in Ghana.

 Systems Research and Behavioral Science, 35(1), 39–57.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2437
- Barsky, A. (2018, July 3). Ethics alive! Ethics of paradoxical intervention in social work. *SocialWorker.Com.* https://www.socialworker.com/feature-articles/ethics-articles/ethics-alive-ethics-of-paradoxical-intervention-in-social-work/
- Bhandari, P. (2020, July 30). An introduction to qualitative research. *Scribbr*. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/qualitative-research/
- Bhandari, P. (2021, October 18). A guide to ethical considerations in research. *Scribbr*. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/research-ethics/
- Bhasin, H. (2019, March 27). Types of interviews in qualitative research.

 Marketing91. https://www.marketing91.com/types-of-interviews-in-qualitative-research/
- Bilgili, M. (2018). Critical theory-based approaches in geography teaching departments in Turkey. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 6(2), 80. https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v6i2.2956
- Birks, E., & Ridley, A. (2021). Evaluating student knowledge about sexual exploitation using an interprofessional approach to teaching and learning. *British Journal of Nursing*, 30(10), 600–607. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2021.30.10.600
- Bradford, S., Cullen, F., & Bradford, S. (2013). Research and research methods for

- youth practitioners. Routledge.
- Braun, J. (2016). A critique of Max Horkheimer's critique of instrumental reason. *The American Sociologist*, 48(2), 192–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12108-016-9314-0
- Bromfield, N. F. (2015). Sex slavery and sex trafficking of women in the United States. *Affilia*, 31(1), 129–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109915616437
- Bruck, A. (2021). *Human trafficking*. https://www.njoag.gov/programs/human-trafficking/
- Camp, M. A., Barner, J. R., & Okech, D. (2018). Implications of human trafficking in Asia: A scoping review of aftercare initiatives centered on economic development. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work*, 15(2), 204–214. https://doi.org/10.1080/23761407.2018.1435326
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S.,

 Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: Complex or simple?

 Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652–661.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206
- Cash, B., Hodgkin, S., & Warburton, J. (2017). A transformative approach to systems theory in caregiving research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 18(4), 710–726. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325017749988
- Chisolm-Straker, M., Sze, J., Einbond, J., White, J., & Stoklosa, H. (2019). Screening for human trafficking among homeless young adults. *Children and Youth*Services Review, 98, 72–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.12.014
- College of the Canyons. (2020). *Human trafficking prevention classes available*. https://www.canyons.edu/administration/pio/news/2020-01-16-trafficking.php

- Connell, E. (2018, June 30). *Human trafficking and the transportation profession:*How can we be part of the solution? Institute of Transportation Engineers

 (ITE). https://trid.trb.org/view/1570824
- Coonan, T. S. (2003). Human rights in the sunshine state: A proposed Florida law on human trafficking. *Florida State University Library*, *31*(2), 1–15. https://ir.law.fsu.edu/lr/vol31/iss2/3?utm_source=ir.law.fsu.edu%2Flr%2Fvol 31%2Fiss2%2F3&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
- Cox, C. B. (2017). Sex trafficking in Cyprus: An in-depth study of policy, services, and social work involvement. *International Social Work*, *61*(6), 867–883. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872816681657
- Criswell, D. M. (2019). Mens rea reform as a demand-side solution to the problem of sex trafficking. *Journal of International Law*, 51(1), Article 10. https://scholarlycommons.law.case.edu/jil/vol51/iss1/10/
- Data analysis vs data categorization: What's the difference? (2023).

 https://oworkers.com/data-analysis-vs-data-categorization-whats-the-difference/
- Davy, D. (2016). Anti-human trafficking interventions. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 37(4), 486–504. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214016630615
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Denne, E., Stevenson, M., & Petty, T. (2019). Understanding how social worker compassion fatigue and years of experience shape custodial decisions. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 95, 104036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104036

- Dierkhising, C. B., Rios, J. J., & Tiscareño, S. G. (2020). Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children. *Criminology*. https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780195396607-0278
- Dols, J. D., Beckmann-Mendez, D., McDow, J., Walker, K., & Moon, M. D. (2019).
 Human trafficking victim identification, assessment, and intervention
 strategies in South Texas emergency departments. Journal of Emergency
 Nursing, 45(6), 622–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2019.07.002
- DuBois, J. M., Strait, M., & Walsh, H. (2018). Is it time to share qualitative research data? *Qualitative Psychology*, *5*(3), 380–393. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000076
- Edmonds, E.A. (1977). [Review of the book *General System Theory: Foundations*, *Development, Applications*, by Ludwig von Bertalanffy]. *Leonardo 10*(3), 248. https://www.muse.jhu.edu/article/598665.
- ElHamd, E. A., Shamma, H., Saleh, M., Elkhodary, E. (2022) Journal of Modelling in Management. Retrieved from https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/jm2-12-2020-0319/full/html
- Ernewein, C., & Nieves, R. (2015). Human Sex Trafficking: Recognition, Treatment, and Referral of Pediatric Victims. *The Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 11(8), 797–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2015.06.005
- Fact Sheet: Human Trafficking. (2017). The Administration for Children and Families. https://www.acf.hhs.gov/otip/fact-sheet/resource/fshumantrafficking
- Farrell, C. A. (2018). *Public awareness of human trafficking (Order No. 10838677)*. Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University.

- Fedina, L., Williamson, C., & Perdue, T. (2016). Risk Factors for Domestic Child Sex Trafficking in the United States. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *34*(13), 2653–2673. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516662306
- Fernandes, N., Gonçalves, M., & Matos, M. (2020). "Who are the Victims, who are the Traffickers?" University Students' Portrayals on Human Trafficking.

 *Victims & Offenders, 15(2), 243–266.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2019.1711276
- Ferreira, B. (2018). A Global Crime Against Women: Sex Trafficking and Its

 Consequences. University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository.

 https://scholars.unh.edu/perspectives/vol10/iss1/1/
- Friedman, J. H. (2022). Institutional Review Board (IRB) Overreach. Rhode Island Medical Journal (2013), 105(8), 72–73.
- Fukushima, A. I., Gonzalez-Pons, K., Gezinski, L., & Clark, L. (2020). Multiplicity of stigma: Cultural barriers in anti-trafficking response. International Journal of Human Rights in Healthcare, 13(2), 125-142. doi: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHRH-07-2019-0056
- Geddis-Regan, A., Exley, C., & Taylor, G. (2021). Navigating the Dual Role of Clinician-Researcher in Qualitative Dental Research. *JDR Clinical & Translational Research*, 238008442199861. https://doi.org/10.1177/2380084421998613
- Georgia. (2020, December 1). United States Department of State.

 https://www.state.gov/reports/2020-trafficking-in-persons-report/Georgia/
- Gonzalez-Pons, K. M., Gezinski, L., Morzenti, H., Hendrix, E., & Graves, S. (2020). Exploring the relationship between domestic minor sex trafficking myths,

- victim identification, and service provision. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 100, 104093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104093
- Greenbaum, J., Albright, K., & Tsai, C. (2020). Introduction to the special issue of Child Abuse and Neglect: Global child trafficking and health. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 100, 104321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104321
- Greenbaum, V. J., Yun, K., & Todres, J. (2018). Child Trafficking: Issues for Policy and Practice. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 46(1), 159–163. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518766029
- Greeson, J. K., Treglia, D., Wolfe, D. S., Wasch, S., & Gelles, R. J. (2019). Child welfare characteristics in a sample of youth involved in commercial sex: An exploratory study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *94*, 104038. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104038
- Grona-Robb, B., & Foos-Pierce, C. (2021). What every prosecutor should know about human trafficking. Texas District & County Attorneys Association.

 https://www.tdcaa.com/journal/what-every-prosecutor-should-know-about-humantrafficking/?__cf_chl_f_tk=z90Vjsjxh.mC62hniEihAgYYo8I.qckpB2xVRTG kvgo-1642625679-0-gaNycGzNBuU
- Guarino, N. (2017). Services as Activities: Towards a Unified Definition for (Public)

 Services. 2017 IEEE 21st International Enterprise Distributed Object

 Computing Workshop (EDOCW). https://doi.org/10.1109/edocw.2017.25
- Hardesty, M., & Gunn, A. J. (2017). Survival sex and trafficked women: The politics of re-presenting and speaking about others in anti-oppressive qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 18(3), 493–513.

- https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325017746481
- Henry, A. M. L., & Grodin, M. A. (2018). Human Trafficking: A Health and Human Rights Agenda. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *168*(9), 674–675. https://doi.org/10.7326/m18-0357
- Hotel Business. (2021, November 24). Florida Mandates Human Trafficking

 Training. Hotelbusiness.Com. https://hotelbusiness.com/florida-mandates-human-trafficking-training/
- Howard-Grenville, J., Nelson, A., Vough, H., & Zilber, T. B. (2021). From the Editors—Achieving Fit and Avoiding Misfit in Qualitative Research.

 Academy of Management Journal, 64(5), 1313–1323.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2021.4005
- Hu, R. (2019). Examining Social Service Providers' Representation of Trafficking Victims: A Feminist Postcolonial Lens. *Affilia*, 34(4), 421–438. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109919868832
- Hughes, J., Collier, B., & Hutchings, A. (2019). From playing games to committing crimes: A multi-technique approach to predicting key actors on an online gaming forum. 2019 APWG Symposium on Electronic Crime Research (ECrime). https://doi.org/10.1109/ecrime47957.2019.9037586
- Iskander, N. N. (2019). On Detention and Skill: Reflections on Immigrant

 Incarceration, Bodying Practices, and the Definition of Skill. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *63*(9), 1370–1388.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764219835257
- Jansen, D. (2020, November 23). *Qualitative Data Coding: Explained Simply (With Examples)*. Grad Coach. https://gradcoach.com/qualitative-data-coding-101/

- Jarvi, R. (2021). AG AG Nessel Urges Legislature to Pass Human Trafficking

 Legislation. Michigan.Gov. https://www.michigan.gov/ag/0,4534,7-359-
 553402--s,00.html
- Jenise wilson (Counselor Preparedness When Working with Survivors of Human Trafficking) 2020-Walden Library
- Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS_855019/lang--en/index.htm (2023)
- Johnson, O. (2019). IOS Press Ebooks General System Theory and the Use of

 Process Mining to Improve Care Pathways. OS Press Ebooks.

 https://www.medra.org/servlet/aliasResolver?alias=iospressISBN&isbn=9781-61499-990-4&spage=11&doi=10.3233/SHTI190107
- Kamanzi, A., & Romania, M. (2019). Rethinking Confidentiality in Qualitative

 Research in the Era of Big Data. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 63(6), 743–758. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764219826222
- Khamung, R., Miller, L. N., & Hsu, P. S. (2022). Discovery of Motivational Themes through Reflection Writing and *In vivo* Coding: An Interactive Motivation Model. International Journal of Learning in Higher Education, 29(2), 169–187. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-7955/CGP/v29i02/169-187
- Kim, H. W., Park, T., Quiring, S., & Barrett, D. (2018). The anti-human trafficking collaboration model and serving victims: Providers' perspectives on the impact and experience. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work*, *15*(2), 186–203. https://doi.org/10.1080/23761407.2018.1432433
- Kiss, L., & Zimmerman, C. (2019). Human trafficking and labor exploitation: Toward identifying, implementing, and evaluating effective responses. *PLOS*

- Medicine, 16(1), e1002740. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002740
- Klimley, K. E., Carpinteri, A., Benson, B., van Hasselt, V. B., & Black, R. A. (2018).

 Commercial sexual exploitation of children: victim characteristics. *Journal of Forensic Practice*, 20(4), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.1108/jfp-04-2018-0015
- Konrad, R. A. (2019). Designing awareness campaigns to counter human trafficking:

 An analytic approach. *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, 67, 86–93.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seps.2018.10.005
- Kyegombe, N., Meiksin, R., Namakula, S., Mulindwa, J., Muhumuza, R., Wamoyi, J., Heise, L., & Buller, A. M. (2020). Community perspectives on the extent to which transactional sex is viewed as sexual exploitation in Central Uganda.
 BMC International Health and Human Rights, 20(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-020-00228-w
- L'Hoiry, X., Moretti, A., & Antonopoulos, G. A. (2021). Identifying sex trafficking in Adult Services Websites: an exploratory study with a British police force.

 Trends in Organized Crime, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12117-021-09414-1
- Lalande, D., & Baumeister, R. F. (2019). *Systems theories (psychology)*. Salem Press Encyclopedia of Health. http://blogi.lu.lv/broks/files/2015/09/Lalande-D.Baumeister-R.-Systems-theories2014.pdf
- Lane, A., & Kent, M. L. (2018). Dialogic Engagement. *The Handbook of Communication Engagement*, 61–72. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119167600.ch5
- Lee H, Geynisman-Tan J, Hofer S, Anderson E, Caravan S, Titchen K. The Impact of Human Trafficking Training on Healthcare Professionals' Knowledge and

- Attitudes. J Med Educ Curric Dev. 2021 May 17;8:23821205211016523. doi: 10.1177/23821205211016523. PMID: 34036175; PMCID: PMC8132095.
- Le, N., Lanthorn, H., & Huang, C. (2019). *The case for iteration in qualitative*research design. Medium. https://medium.com/idinsight-blog/the-case-for-iteration-in-qualitative-research-design-e07ed1314756
- Leslie, J. (2018). Human Trafficking: Clinical Assessment Guideline. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, 25(5), 282–289. https://doi.org/10.1097/jtn.000000000000389
- Lewis, M., Rappe, P., & King, D. M. (2018). Development and Promotion of Student Advocacy Skills within a Human Trafficking Course. *International Journal of Social Development Issues Journal*, 40(2), 24–35.
- Liberate Children. (2021). *Child Trafficking: About the child liberation foundation*. Child Liberation Foundation. https://liberatechildren.org/about-clf
- Luciani, M., Campbell, K., Tschirhart, H., Ausili, D, & Jack, S.M. (2019). How to
 Design a Qualitative Health Research Study. Part 1: Design and Purposeful
 Sampling Considerations. *Prof Inferm*, 72(2):152-161. English. PMID:
 31550432.
- Lucio, R., Rapp-McCall, L., & Campion, P. (2020). Creation of a Human Trafficking

 Course. *Advances in Social Work*, 20(2), 394–408.

 https://doi.org/10.18060/23679
- Lutz, R. M. (2018). Human trafficking education for nurse practitioners: Integration into standard curriculum. *Nurse Education Today*, 61, 66–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.11.015
- Mace, S. L. (2013). Child trafficking: A case study of the perceptions of child welfare

- professionals in Colorado. 2000–2019-CSU Theses and Dissertations.
- Mahat-Shamir, M., Neimeyer, R. A., & Pitcho-Prelorentzos, S. (2021). Designing indepth semi-structured interviews for revealing meaning reconstruction after loss. Death Studies, 45(2), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2019.1617388
- Mania-Singer, J. (2017). A Systems Theory Approach to the District Central Office's Role in School-Level Improvement. *Administrative Issues Journalst*, 7(1), 70–83. https://doi.org/10.5929/2017.7.1.6
- Manning, J. (2017). *In vivo* Coding. *The International Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods*, 1–2.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0270
- Marcus, A., Sanson, J., Horning, A., Thompson, E., & Curtis, R. (2016). Pimping and Profitability. *Sociological Perspectives*, *59*(1), 46–65. https://doi.org/10.1177/0731121416628552
- Masilo, D. T. (2018). Prevention of Child Sexual Abuse within the Family System:

 Guidelines for an Educational Social Group Work Program. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 27(4), 335–346.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2018.1430089
- McDonald, A. R., & Middleton, J. (2019). Applying a survival sex hierarchy to the commercial sexual exploitation of children: a trauma-informed perspective.

 Journal of Public Child Welfare, 13(3), 245–264.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2019.1590289
- McDonald, A. R., & Middleton, J. (2019b). Applying a survival sex hierarchy to the commercial sexual exploitation of children: a trauma-informed perspective.

- Journal of Public Child Welfare, 13(3), 245–264. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2019.1590289
- McGinty, J. (2021). New UGA center to combat global human trafficking. UGA

 Today. https://news.uga.edu/new-uga-center-to-combat-global-humantrafficking/
- Meadan, H., Snodgrass, M. R., Palomo, I., Amenta, C. G., & Halle, J. W. (2016). A
 Framework for Defining Contextual Features of Training and Coaching
 Practices. *Exceptionality*, 25(4), 253–269.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2016.1196451
- Mehlman-Orozco, K. (2017). Projected heroes and self-perceived manipulators: understanding the duplications identities of human traffickers. *Trends in Organized Crime*, 23(2), 95–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12117-017-9325-4
- Meshelemiah, J. C. A. (2019, August 3). *The Cause and Consequence of Human Trafficking: Human Rights Violations Simple Book Publishing*. Pressbooks. https://ohiostate.pressbooks.pub/humantrafficking/
- Missing children rescued in Georgia sex trafficking bust. (2020, August 29). *AP NEWS*. https://apnews.com/article/ga-state-wire-us-news-6064e7f90b9192377bc7034a6c07ae59
- Mostajabian, S., Santa Maria, D., Wiemann, C., Newlin, E., & Bocchini, C. (2019).

 Identifying Sexual and Labor Exploitation among Sheltered Youth

 Experiencing Homelessness: A Comparison of Screening Methods.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(3),
 363. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16030363
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative

- research? Qualitative Psychology, 8(3), 389–406. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Naidu, T., & Prose, N. (2018, September 26). Re-Envisioning Member Checking and

 Communicating Results as Accountability Practice in Qualitative Research: A

 South African Community-Based Organization Example | Forum Qualitative

 Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research. FQS.

 https://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/3153
- National human trafficking training and technical assistance center (NHTTAC).

 (2020). National Human Trafficking hotline. Received from https://www.acf.hhs.gov/otip/training/nhttac#
- National Association of Social Workers (NASW). (2017). NASW National Association of Social Workers.

 https://www.socialworkers.org/about/ethics/code-of-ethics
- Nemeth, J. M., & Rizo, C. F. (2019). Estimating the Prevalence of Human

 Trafficking: Progress Made and Future Directions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109(10),
- 1318–1319. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2019.305258
- New Jersey Hospital Association. (2018). *Training required by statue*. https://www.njha.com/education/training-required-by-statute/
- Nguyen, P. T., Lamkin, J., Coverdale, J. H., Scott, S., Li, K., & Gordon, M. R. (2017).

 Identifying Human Trafficking Victims on a Psychiatry Inpatient Service: A

 Case Series. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 89(2), 341–348.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-017-9538-3
- Nierengarten, M. B., MA. (2018). Identify, screen, treat, and advocate for child

- victims of sex trafficking. Contemporary Pediatrics.
- https://www.contemporarypediatrics.com/view/identify-screen-treat-and-advocate-child-victims-sex-trafficking
- Nsonwu, M. (2019). Human Trafficking of Immigrants and Refugees in North Carolina. *North Carolina Medical Journal*, 80(2), 101–103. https://doi.org/10.18043/ncm.80.2.101
- Nsonwu, M. B., Welch-Brewer, C., Heffron, L. C., Lemke, M. A., Busch-Armendariz, N., Sulley, C., Cook, S. W., Lewis, M., Watson, E., Moore, W., & Li, J. (2015). Development and Validation of an Instrument to Assess Social Work Students' Perceptions, Knowledge, and Attitudes About Human Trafficking Questionnaire (PKA-HTQ). *Research on Social Work Practice*, 27(5), 561–571. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731515578537
 - Nunan, D. (2021). Collection: Privacy and research ethics. *International Journal of Market Research*, 63(3), 271–274. https://doi.org/10.1177/14707853211015445
- O' Sullivan, L., Feeney, L., Crowley, R. K., Sukumar, P., McAuliffe, E., & Doran, P. (2021). An evaluation of the process of informed consent: views from research participants and staff. *Trials*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-021-05493-1
- O'Brien, J. E., & Li, W. (2019). The role of the internet in the grooming, exploitation, and exit of United States domestic minor sex trafficking victims. *Journal of Children and Media*, 14(2), 187–203.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/17482798.2019.1688668
- Office of Attorney General. (2021). Human Trafficking. State of California

- Department of Justice. State of California. https://oag.ca.gov/human-trafficking
- Office of the Attorney General. (2021). Florida Attorney General Statewide Council on Human Trafficking. State of Florida.

 http://myfloridalegal.com/pages.nsf/Main/8AEA5858B1253D0D85257D3400
 5AFA72
- Okech, D., Choi, Y. J., Elkins, J., & Burns, A. C. (2017). Seventeen years of human trafficking research in social work: A review of the literature. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work*, *15*(2), 103–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/23761407.2017.1415177
- On-Ramps, Intersections, and Exit Routes: A Roadmap for Systems and Industries to

 Prevent and Disrupt Human Trafficking. (2018). Polaris.

 https://polarisproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/A-Roadmap-forSystems-and-Industries-to-Prevent-and-Disrupt-Human-Trafficking-HealthCare.pdf
- Ornellas, A., Spolander, G., & Engelbrecht, L. K. (2016). The global social work definition: Ontology, implications, and challenges. *Journal of Social Work*, 18(2), 222–240. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017316654606
- Oxford Languages Dictionary. (2020). Oxford Languages | The Home of Language

 Data. https://languages.oup.com/
- Parrish, E. (2018). Human trafficking: Awareness, assessment, and training.

 *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care, 54(4), 456.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12331
- Petric, J., Sadri, B., van Essen, P., & Dean, N. R. (2021). Improving preoperative

- breast reconstruction consultations: a qualitative study on the impact of personalised audio-recordings. *BMC Women's Health*, *21*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-021-01534-8
- Platais, I. (2019). Redefining Sex Work in the Republic of Georgia | Columbia Social

 Work Review. Columbia University Libraries.

 https://journals.library.columbia.edu/index.php/cswr/article/view/1897
- Powell, C., Asbill, M., Louis, E., & Stoklosa, H. (2017). Identifying Gaps in Human Trafficking Mental Health Service Provision. *Journal of Human Trafficking*, 4(3), 256–269. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322705.2017.1362936
- Powell, C., Dickins, K., & Stoklosa, H. (2017). Training US health care professionals on human trafficking: where do we go from here? *Medical Education Online*, 22(1), 1267980. https://doi.org/10.1080/10872981.2017.1267980
- Prentiss, A. (2020, November 9). FSU launches new professional certification in human trafficking prevention and intervention. Florida State University News. https://news.fsu.edu/news/2020/11/09/fsu-launches-new-professional-certification-in-human-trafficking-prevention-and-intervention/
- Qualitative Data Analysis: Coding (2023) Retrieved from https://guides.library.illinois.edu/qualitative
- Recknor, F., Di Ruggiero, E., & Jensen, E. (2022). Addressing human trafficking as a public health issue. Canadian Journal of Public Health = Revue Canadienne de Sante Publique, 113(4), 607–610. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-022-00642-8
- Reid, J. A., Baglivio, M. T., Piquero, A. R., Greenwald, M. A., & Epps, N. (2019). No youth left behind to human trafficking: Exploring profiles of risk. *American*

- Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 89(6), 704–715. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000362
- Resetar, L. (2021, May 13). *Detroitisit Quiet Crisis in a Loud Pandemic, Human Trafficking has Only Grown During Covid-19*. Detroitisit.

 https://detroitisit.com/human-trafficking/
- Robinson, R. (2023). Purposive sampling. *Encylopedia of quality of life and well-being research*, 5243-5245. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/referenceworkentry/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5_2337
- Rockinson-Szapkiw, A. J., Spaulding, L. S., Justice, J. M. S., & Owens, D. (2017).

 Identify, Intervene, and Advocate: Human Services Workers' Role in Youth

 Sex Trafficking. *Journal of Human Services*, *37*(1), 63–76.
- Rogers, R. (2018). Coding and Writing Analytic Memos on Qualitative Data: A

 Review of Johnny Saldaña's the Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers.

 The Qualitative Report. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3459
- Roney, L. N., & Villano, C. E. (2020). Recognizing Victims of a Hidden Crime:

 Human Trafficking Victims in Your Pediatric Trauma Bay. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, 27(1), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1097/jtn.000000000000000480
- Roth, S. (2019). The open theory and its enemy: Implicit moralisation as epistemological obstacle for general systems theory. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, *36*(3), 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2590
- Salas, R. G., & Didier, K. A. (2019). California Adds Human Trafficking Prevention

 Training to its 7–12 Grade Curriculum: Should Other States Follow? *The*Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues, and Ideas, 93(1),

- 12-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2019.1677546
- Salas, R. G., & Didier, K. A. (2021). The Educator's Role in Human Trafficking
 Prevention: From the Trafficking Victims Prevention Act of 2000 to
 California's Human Trafficking Prevention Education and Training Act of
 2017. Children's Legal Rights Journal, 40(1).
- Saylor, P. J. (2021). Informed Consent 2021: The "Terms and Conditions" of the Research World. *The Oncologist*, 26(11), 902–903. https://doi.org/10.1002/onco.13882
- Schelbe, L., Randolph, K. A., Yelick, A., Cheatham, L. P., & Groton, D. B. (2018).

 Systems theory as a framework for examining a college campus-based support program for the former foster youth. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social*Work, 15(3), 277–295. https://doi.org/10.1080/23761407.2018.1436110
- Schwarz, C. (2019). Human Trafficking and Meaning Making: The Role of Definitions in Antitrafficking Frontline Work. Social Service Review, 93(3), 484–523. https://doi.org/10.1086/705237
- Shepp, S. (2019). Priceless kidney: The ineffectiveness of organ trafficking legislation. *Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce*, 46(2), 384.
- Simon, A. F., & Wilder, D. (2018). Action research in social psychology. *Archives of Scientific Psychology*, 6(1), 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1037/arc0000054
- State of Georgia. (2021). Criminal Justice Coordinating Council. Criminal Justice

 Coordinating Council. https://cjcc.georgia.gov/organization/criminal-justice
 coordinating-council
- State of Michigan Department of Attorney General. (2021). *Training*. https://www.michigan.gov/ag/0,4534,7-359-82917_99984_99992_99996-

- State of New Jersey. (2019). *Keeping Our Kids Safe, Healthy & In School*. NJ Department of Education.
 - https://www.state.nj.us/education/students/safety/health/ht/
- Steckley, L. (2018). Special issue: Psychodynamic and systems theories perspectives on residential childcare. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, *32*(4), 365–372. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2018.1503168
- Steiner, J. J., Kynn, J., Stylianou, A. M., & Postmus, J. L. (2018). Providing services to trafficking survivors: Understanding practices across the globe. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work*, *15*(2), 151–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/23761407.2017.1423527
- Taking Up the Mantle of Human Trafficking Education: Who Should Be Responsible? (2017). *AMA Journal of Ethics*, *19*(1), 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1001/journalofethics.2017.19.1.ecas4-1701
- Taking Up the Mantle of Human Trafficking Education: Who Should Be Responsible? (2017). *AMA Journal of Ethics*, *19*(1), 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1001/journalofethics.2017.19.1.ecas4-1701
- Taylor, K. C. (2018). Teaching decision-making and building resilience in youth A case study to reduce the supply of vulnerable youth to sex traffickers in Atlanta, Georgia. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 268(3), 960–970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2017.11.067
- Texas Health and Human Services. *Health Care Practitioner Human Trafficking**Training | Texas Health and Human Services (2021).

 https://www.hhs.texas.gov/services/safety/texas-human-trafficking-resource-

- center/health-care-practitioner-human-trafficking-training
- Texas Human Trafficking Prevention Task Force (2020). (2020). Office of attorney general.
 - https://www.texasattorneygeneral.gov/sites/default/files/files/divisions/human-trafficking/HumanTraffickingAnnualReport2020.pdf
- The Florida Legislature. (2021). *The 2021 Florida Statutes*.

 http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&U

 RL=0700-0799/0787/Sections/0787.06.html
- The United States Attorney Office. (2018). *Human Trafficking Task Force*. USAO-SDGA | Department of Justice. https://www.justice.gov/usao-sdga/human-trafficking-task-force
- Tortolero, G. A. (2021). Human Trafficking Victim Identification and Response

 Within the United States Healthcare System | Page 2 | IAHSSF: International

 Association for Healthcare Security and Safety Foundation Education and

 Professional Advancement. IAHSS-Foundation.

 https://iahssf.org/research/human-trafficking-victim-identification-and-response-within-the-united-states-healthcare-system/2/
- Tu, D. (2017). Holder and the inadequacy in the asylum process for helping potential transnational human trafficking victims. *George Mason Law Review*, 5, 1247–1270.
- U.S. Department of Justice. (2021). *Justice news*. Justice.Gov. https://www.justice.gov/
- U.S. Department of State. (2021). 2021 Trafficking in Persons Report: Georgia. https://www.state.gov/reports/2021-trafficking-in-persons-report/georgia/

- UGA receives \$15.75M to combat human trafficking. (2020, June 4). UGA Social Work. https://ssw.uga.edu/news/article/uga-receives-15-75m-to-combat-human-trafficking/
- University of Bucharest, Faculty of Sociology and Social Work in association with Polirom Publishing House. (2016). Comparing the Cultural Factors in the Sexual Exploitation of Young People in the UK and USA: Insights for Social Workers Worcester Research and Publications. Social Work Review. http://eprints.worc.ac.uk/5594/
- University of Georgia. (2021). *Apries: African programming & research initiative to*end slavery. https://apries.uga.edu/cenhtro-newsletter/
- University of Huddersfield: Inspiring global professionals; Themes and Codes (2023)

 Retrieved from https://research.hud.ac.uk/research-subjects/human-health/template-analysis/technique/themes-and-codes/
- van der Watt, M., & van der Westhuizen, A. (2017). (Re)configuring the criminal justice response to human trafficking: a complex-systems perspective. *Police Practice and Research*, *18*(3), 218–229. https://doi.org/10.1080/15614263.2017.1291560
- Vanguard University. (2021). Anti-Human Trafficking Certificate.

 https://www.vanguard.edu/academics/academic-programs/professional-studies/anti-human-trafficking-certificate
- Völker, J. (2018). The Unethical Truth: On the Continuous Dissolution of Critical Theory. *MLN*, *133*(3), 674–692. https://doi.org/10.1353/mln.2018.0045
- von Bertalanffy, L., & Sutherland, J. W. (1974). General Systems Theory:

 Foundations, Developments, Applications. *IEEE Transactions on Systems*,

- Man, and Cybernetics, SMC-4(6), 592. https://doi.org/10.1109/tsmc.1974.4309376
- Whiteford, M. (2021). State and Federal Legislative Efforts to address Human

 Trafficking. U.S. House of Representatives.

 https://www.house.mi.gov/MHRPublic/CommitteeDoc.aspx?uri=2021_2022_

 session/committee/house/standing/judiciary/meetings/2021-03-02
 1/documents/testimony/030221%20Human%20Trafficking%20Rep.%20Whit
 eford.pdf
- Wilson, J. (2020). Counselor preparedness when working with survivors of human trafficking (Order No. 28093858). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University. (2447014903). Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/counselor-preparedness-whenworking-with/docview/2447014903/se-2
- Who is in Your Waiting Room? Health Care Professionals as Culturally Responsive and Trauma-Informed First Responders to Human Trafficking. (2017). *AMA Journal of Ethics*, 19(1), 63–71.
 - https://doi.org/10.1001/journalofethics.2017.19.1.pfor2-1701
- Williams, B. (2018). Human trafficking: What is it, how do we miss it, and what is Ohio doing about it. *Ohio Nurses Review*, *93*(2), 6–9.
- Williams, P. R., Wyatt, W., & Gaddis, A. (2018). Identification of client involvement in sex trafficking in Mississippi. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work*, 15(2), 170–185. https://doi.org/10.1080/23761407.2018.1430645
- Yesufu, S. (2020). Human trafficking: A South African perspective. *E-BANGI Journal*, 17(6), 103–120.

Your Ultimate Guide to Qualitative Research. (2022, January 10). Qualtrics.

https://www.qualtrics.com/experience-management/research/qualitative-research/

Appendix: Focus Group Research Questions

The following questions will be asked during the focus groups.

- 1. Please describe your formal educational experiences related to the identification of human trafficking victims?
- 2. What educational background on identification of human trafficking victims do you believe is required for your social work position?
- 3. Please describe trainings other than formal education you experienced on identification of human trafficking victims? What topics were covered?
- 4. What trainings on identifying human trafficking victims are provided to you through your employment, if any?
- 5. How would you evaluate your experiences with trainings in identifying human trafficking victims provided by your employer, if any?
- 6. Based on your experiences, what knowledge and/or trainings do you believe are needed to identify human trafficking victims adequately?

Appendix B: Interview Schedule

Participant	Day	Date	Time
Participant 1	Tuesday	January 31, 2023	10:00 am EST
Participant 2	Wednesday	February 1, 2023	10:00 am EST
Participant 3	Wednesday	February 1, 2023	04:30 pm EST
Participant 4	Wednesday	February 1, 2023	6:00 pm EST
Participant 5	Thursday	February 2, 2023	6:00 pm EST
Participant 6	Thursday	February 9, 2023	10:00 am EST
Participant 7	Thursday	February 9, 2023	2:00 pm EST
Participant 8	Thursday	February 9, 2023	3:30 pm EST
Participant 9	Saturday	February 11, 2023	11:00 am EST
Participant 10	Sunday	February 12, 2023	3:00 pm EST